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WELCOME
This year, we wanted the creativity of our clients to inspire our
annual report. After all, they are the most important individuals in
all that we do.
You will find a calendar attached to this report as well as greeting
cards, which can be torn off for use.
This report can also be downloaded via our website. You will
discover an additional appendix that shows the full extent of our
work.

CONTENTS
Chairman’s Message

1

About Us

2

Service Map

3

Special Education School

5

Social Enterprise and
Employment Development

17

Residential and Communitybased Care Services

30

Allied Health Professional
Services

37

2

MINDS Institute of Intellectual
and Developmental Disabilities

45

Caregivers Support Services

52

Stakeholders’ Engagement

60

An Organisation Governed By
Passion

73

Corporate Governance

78

Financial Highlights

84

Financial Statements

85

CHAIRMAN’S
MESSAGE
“The success of MINDS is like
a life-long journey.”
The year 2017 has seen a transformational change in the social service sector. The introduction of the Social
Service Sector Strategic Thrusts by National Council of Social Service (NCSS), has mapped a shared vision for the
people from both the private and public sectors to participate and collaborate. This has made a lasting impact on
the social service sector and reaffirmed MINDS’ mission, which puts us in good stead to pursue our strategies and
champion our cause for persons with intellectual and developmental disabilities.
Besides the strong advocacy and support of the Singapore Government to push for greater impact and change,
the community has also embraced the change and come forward to actively support persons with special needs.
This is certainly exuberating!
I am honoured to take on the governance role as MINDS’ Chairman from Mr Huang Cheng Eng, the elected
chairman at the last Annual General Meeting (AGM) in 2017 – to whom MINDS owes a debt of gratitude. In April
2018, he had requested to step down to focus on his health.
It is fitting, in such a buoyant and positive environment that MINDS has taken on a collaborative approach to
co-create this annual report together with the most important stakeholders of our organisation – our very own
students and clients. Their success is a powerful expression of their own abilities as they transcend beyond their
conditions to excel in their own fortes.
The success of MINDS is like a life-long journey. As our clients and caregivers grow in age and abilities, so do
their ever-changing needs. The favourable ecosystem that MINDS has built will continue to evolve to be able to
intuitively address these changing needs.
George Bernard Shaw once said, “Progress is impossible without change.” As MINDS navigates through the
labyrinth of change, we will continue to advance by honing the core values that formed the bedrock of our
organisation and reinventing ourselves with time as we pave the best possible future for persons with intellectual
and developmental disabilities.

Chairman
Captain Roger Loh
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ABOUT US
VISION
To be a world-class voluntary welfare organisation that advances the development,
well-being and aspirations of persons with intellectual disability and their integration
into society around 3 core values:

INTEGRI TY

RE S PEC T

PROFESSIONALISM

MISSION
MAXIMISE the development and well-being of persons with intellectual disability
through the provision of a comprehensive range of quality services.
EMPOWER persons with intellectual disability and their families so as to enable them
to maximise their potential and fulfil their aspirations.
ADVOCATE the interests and causes of persons with intellectual disability and their
caregivers so as to enable them to participate as fully as possible in society.
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SERVICE MAP
SCHOOLS & ADULT SERVICES

SPECIAL EDUCATION
SCHOOLS (SPED)

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT
CENTRES (TDC)

Aged 7 to 18
Total Enrolment: 814

Aged 18 & above
Total Number of Clients: 406
Full-time: 270
Part-time: 136

EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT
CENTRES (EDC)
Aged 18 & above
Open Employment - 166
Employment Development - 724
Social Enterprise - 260
Enclave - 20

CAREGIVERS SUPPORT
SERVICES

RESIDENTIAL SERVICES
Home Residents: 117
Hostel Residents: 48
Children’s Wing Residents: 16
Community Group Home
Residents: 8
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HOME-BASED CARE
SERVICES
Residents Under Home-based
Care: 21
Me-too! Club Clients: 44
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SPECIAL
EDUCATION
SCHOOLS
“Education is the most powerful weapon
you can use to change the world.”
– Nelson Mandela
MINDS runs four Special Education (SPED) Schools to cater to
the educational needs of children (age 7 to 18) with moderate to
severe intellectual and developmental disabilities as well as Autism
Spectrum Disorder (ASD). Our four schools offer three programmes
– Junior (7 – 12 years), Senior (13 – 18 years) and Special (7 – 18
years). The programmes cater to their different learning needs aimed
to equip them with functional and academic skills to participate as
fully as possible in society.
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STUDENT ENROLMENT
(AS AT 31 MARCH 2018)

ID
ASD
Total

Fernvale Gardens
School (FGS)

Lee Kong Chian
Gardens School (LGS)

Towner Gardens
School (TGS)

Woodlands Gardens
School (WGS)

13 1
49
18 0

180
26
206

157
38
195

175
58
233

Nurul Syafiqah and Nurul Faranisha are hard at work
changing the bed sheets. The students were attached to
the Pan Pacific Serviced Suites, and Pizza Hut Singapore.
They were subsequently gainfully employed at Pizza Hut
Singapore.

Muhd Danial Affandy Bin Muhd
Johari is happily at work washing
tableware.

Mohammed Zailani Bin Abdullah
is gainfully employed by Popeyes
Louisiana Kitchen through the Schoolto-Work (S2W) Programme.

Shania Kate Sison Monsalve was one of the students
employed by Yishun Community Hospital through
the S2W Programme.
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2017 GRADUATES’
EMPLOYMENT PLACEMENTS/
WORK ATTACHMENTS
School

Class/Name

Nature of Employment/Work Attachment

FGS

Ong Jun Han
Sim Yan Qing
Bryan Ng Jun Ming
Nur Hakim Alfian bin Halim
Ngian Whee Xuan
Muhd Yong Ditoh

Cheers Singapore
Sushi Express

Nurul Syafiqah Bte Rosman
Nur Faranisha Bte Sahlan
Lee De Chun
Phee Yun Gywneth
Nurain Fatin Fakhirah
Cheng Chang Jing
Nursyarafina Eriza Bte Khairizal
Balqis Khairayu Bte Sami’an
Chin Justyn
Eugene, Tan Zunn Hou
Hiew Yong Ping
Nagarajan Mahisha
Cheng Qin Han
Ong Shi Ya
Abelinde Dave Burgos
Ling Shiaw Ying
Thor Wan Ling
Muhammad Shazani Bin Salleh
Nadia Alisha Mohammed Shakir
Chia Jia Lin
Tien Zhiyu
Gaayatri Ramakrishnan
Ong Xin Min
Chia Jia Lin
Nur Aqid
Tien Zhiyu

Pizza Hut Singapore

Gan Si Ming, Jason
Nurhalimah Bte Abdul Jalil
Nur Hamidah Bte Afandi
Mohammad Zailani Bin Abdullah
Muhd Khairil Hanafi B Md Tayeb
Muhd Danial Affandy B Md Johari
Ong Lee Hwa
Nur Ain Bte Muhd Jeffri

SM Laundry
Shangri-La Hotel Singapore

Shania Kate Sison Monsalve
Chua Jia Jun Emeth
Joshua Hui Chen Fung

Yishun Community Hospital

LGS

TGS

WGS

Pan Pacific Serviced Suites
Orchid Thai Catering

Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen
Giant Singapore

Terra SG
KFC Singapore

Popeyes Louisiana Kitchen
Pan Pacific Hotel Singapore
Pearl’s Hill Care Home

Undergoing “Project IN” training and internship
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The badminton team from LGS take centre stage at Special
Olympics Singapore 2017.

> 80

MEDALS WON

FGS students returned with a haul of medals at
Special Olympics Singapore 2017.

Ang Wei Jie concentrating on his
throw at the Bocce event.

Way to go! Crossing the finish line with the last burst of energy.
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SPORTS ACHIEVEMENTS
FGS

LGS

TGS

Gold

Muhd Azahari (2)
Matilda Chan
Muhd Ammar
Surya Gunawan
Rachel Chim
Yang Qing
Li Ning
Ngian Wee Xhuan

Hiew Yong Ping
Balqis Khairuyu
Binti Sami’an
Ong Teck Hock
Zailani Bin Siron
Abelinde Dave
Burgos
Muhamad Daniel
Bin Abdullah

Mohammad Zailani
Bin Abdullah (2)
Ong Lee Hwa

Ryce Lee
Nur Izzati
Hpone Myatnoe Eint

Silver

Surya Gunawan
Zunnur Aniq
Cloey Choong
Matilda Chan
Lee Yu Xian
Elfie Rifaie
Priya
Ng Jun Han

Balqis Khairuyu
Binti Sami’an
Nurhaslynda Bte
Abd Razak
Lim Dao Liang
Nurul Syafiqah Bte
Rosman
Muhammad Imran
Bin Osman
Diman Bin Mamat

Mohammad Zailani
Bin Abdullah
Muhd Danial Affandy
B Md Johari
Ong Lee Hwa

Chris Raphel (2)
Jim Christian (2)
Sudharssan
Tang Wang Zhi
Derrick Chan
Qu’raisha Shalin
Muhammad Izdihar
Jordon Ong Xuan
Rong
Immanuel s/o Raja
Rejendran Verma

Bronze

Elfie Rifaie
Bryan Ng
Muhd Haiziq
Foo Wei Xin (2)
Siti Nur Rishah
Aqil Andikah
Kevin

Hiew Yong Ping
Muhammad Akif Bin
Md Jailani
Ong Teck Hock (2)
Glennis Chen Wen
Ting
Nur Aqid Shahrudin
B Daud
Nadia Alisha Bte
Mohammed Shakir
Nur Faranisha Binte
Sahlan
Muhammad Daniel
Bin Abdullah
Muhammad Zikry
Bin Zainudin
Advaitha s/o
Thigaraji
Mohamed Aimi Bin
Hamini
Mohamed Ashriq
Bin Mohamed
Nasron
Zenus Tan
Bautro Francis
Anthony Pepito

Gan Shi Ming
Muhd Khairil Hanafi B
Md Tayeb
Ong Lee Hwa

Ng Jing Hui (2)
Kenneth Yap (2)
Shania Kate
Ang Wei Jie
Enoch Teh
Jeremin Chan (2)
Muhammad Asyraf
Muhammad Aidil
Ammar Bin Mohd
Afandi
Adam Mustaqim
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WGS

STIMULATING
ARTISTIC CREATIONS
2017 Graduates’ Aesthetics Achievements
Fernvale Gardens School

Achievements

Modern Dance Company

Performed at the:
• SPH Foundation Charity Concert 2017
• Purple Parade 2017

Spanish Dance

Performed “Farruca” at the Supreme Court’s National Day
Observance Ceremony.

Lee Kong Chian Gardens School

Achievements

Ling Zi Chen Elijah

“Merit Award” at VSA 15th Annual Art Competition.

Super Trouper Choir

Performed at the:
• Singtel Touching Lives Fund Cheque Presentation
Ceremony
• “Esplanade Free Programmes” series at the Esplanade.
They also did a combined choir performance with two
other SPED schools during its finale.
• MINDS Biennial Volunteer and Donor Appreciation
Day
• NUH Staff Appreciation Day at National University
Hospital Auditorium.
• Enabling Moments Award Ceremony by SG Enable at
the Pan Pacific Singapore
• Community Chest Awards 2017 at the Istana
Recorded their music for a music video produced by
Ngee Ann Polytechnic Media faculty.

Towner Gardens School

Achievements

Tan Zhe Kai
Alvin Zhuo Zhengyang

“Merit” award at VSA 15th Annual Art Competition.

Iman Bte Ahmad Bashir

Commendation Award” at the Singapore Youth Festival
(SYF) 2018 Celebrations Logo Design Contest.

TGS Kool Kidz

Performed at the:
• Purple Parade 2017
• Official Opening of Special Olympics 2017
• Singapore Youth Festival 2017 Celebration

Woodlands Gardens School

Achievements

WGS Performing Arts Group

Performed with students from Chongfu School during their
annual celebration.
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The winning art piece done by Censon Given Leeona Jane
from FGS was printed on Beautex tissue box.

The talented duo from TGS performed a percussion
piece played on cajon, wowing the audience at the Purple
Parade 2017.

The performing arts group from WGS grooving to the
music with their sassy jazz steps.

The artwork created by Abhiyasa
Adhi Pradhanika Suryana from LGS
was displayed at SCAPE during
the Singapore Youth Festival Art
Exhibition 2017.
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KEY INITIATIVES
MINDS Fernvale Gardens School (FGS)
Integrating Creative Arts into the School Curriculum
In partnership with Odyssey Dance Theatre, FGS is developing a
framework for its arts curriculum, which aims to embody creative
arts learning into learning, living and working educational
outcomes. Besides training students in visual and performing
arts, the multifaceted programme serves to promote learning in
other domains such as numeracy skills and language, and boost
their soft skills in a fun and engaging way.
Strengthening Capabilities for Autism Spectrum
To fortify itself as a school of choice for children with moderate
to severe ASD, FGS launched a school-wide effort to strengthen
teachers’ knowledge, skills, and competencies, adapt current
teaching materials to suit the needs of children with ASD,
and also build capacity to monitor and evaluate the efforts.
The school implemented the Universal Design for Learning
(UDL) framework, a teaching pedagogy that designs and plans
curricula to enable students of different learning pace to
acquire knowledge, skills and develop enthusiasm, in school.
This involved enabling the teaching staff to be fully fledged in
the principles of UDL, planning lessons with UDL principles
in place, etc. In addition, the school also set up more autismfriendly features such as employing visual schedules and
communications, and autism-only classroom to enhance their
learning and development.

MINDS Lee Kong Chian Gardens School (LGS)
Learning through Virtual Reality (VR)
In an effort to enhance students’ learning through the use
of Information and Communication Technology (ICT), the
students from the senior level were given the opportunity to
use Virtual Reality (VR) to experience activities such as riding
roller coasters, scuba diving, and riding a boat up on a river.
This enabled students to experience activities they may never
have the chance to experience in real life, while teaching them
critical skills in a fun and engaging way.
Collaboration with Ministry of Bellz
Through a unique collaboration with Ministry of Bellz,
Singapore’s award winning handbells ensemble, the students
from LGS had the opportunity to play alongside ringers from
Ministry of Bellz at their concert at Victoria Theatre. Besides
performing, student leaders were appointed as ushers and
sensory booth assistants during the concert, which broadened
their horizons and work experiences.
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MINDS Towner Gardens School (TGS)
Math through play
For many students, math can be an abstract concept,
thus making learning a daunting and difficult task
for them. The Mathematics and ICT departments at
TGS reinvented learning through the use of play as
a pedagogical tool, encouraging creative and active
learning among the students. This helps students
develop an inquisitive mind, enabling them to
contextualise math in their everyday life, as they
engage with a number of brain teasers to learn new
problem-solving strategies.
Staying Fit & Healthy: 1-3-5 Fitness Programme
To inculcate a culture of healthy living in TGS, the
“1-3-5 Fitness Programme” was introduced to
encourage students and teachers to engage in regular
exercise. Focusing on brain gym, strength exercise,
and endurance training, the programme is held every
Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays.

MINDS Woodl ands Gardens School (WGS)
Reading Gardens @ WGS
In addition to the “Pupil and PArent (PAPA) Reading” Programme,
WGS launched a programme to reinforce the culture of reading
among students. The students of Millennia Institute were
roped in to set up learning booths and trails within the school’s
compound to encourage students to explore the garden and
read to learn a variety of things in relation to biodiversity.

WGS Grandparents’ Brunch Programme
WGS introduced a Grandparents’ Brunch Programme as a
platform for students to contextualise the vocational skills they
learned. With guests including their grandparents, the elderly
residents from the Resident’s Committee, as well as Mr Vikram
Nair, Member of Parliament for Sembawang GRC, students had
the opportunity to interact with people beyond their immediate
social circle as they prepared and served refreshments to them.
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STAFF DEVELOPMENT
MINDS SPED Schools’ teachers are specially trained by Ministry of Education to ensure they have
the relevant competencies to deliver the customised curriculum and pedagogy designed for children
with moderate to severe special education needs. While all teachers are proficient with Certificate
or Diploma in Special Education(CISE/DISE), the teachers are also skilled in their own specialised
domains such as in Management & Leadership, Autism Spectrum Disorder, and Universal Design
for Learning – a teaching pedagogy that designs and plans curricula to enable students of different
learning pace to acquire knowledge, skills and develop enthusiasm.
Currently, MINDS is in the midst of implementing an integrated lifespan curriculum that incorporates
the current special education curriculum with a post-18 adult curriculum. This curriculum will
enhance clients’ lifelong learning and development through a holistic and evidence-based approach.

Milestone
Course/Training

FGS

LGS

TGS

WGS

34

42

38

37

5

4

3

2

5

6

6

3

ASD*

24

31

30

15

UDL

6

9

6

8

Certificate or
Diploma in Special
Education
(CISE/DISE)
Advanced Diploma in
Special Education
(ADISE)
Management &
Leadership
(MLS)

* Certificate in Autism (CIA) by Autism Resource Centre and Certificate in Educational Studies
(ASD) by Social Service Training Institute(inclusive of training conducted by Dr Kenneth Poon).
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LEADING BY EXAMPLE

Nur Farahnisha received the inaugural Lee Kuan Yew
Exemplary Student Award, affirming the resilience and
hardwork of students who have risen above the odds
to be exemplary role models.
Muhd Ashraf Nizam B. Mohd Ali receiving the
MDIS Bursary Award from President Halimah.
The award is given to students who have made
improvements in their learning of various
domains.

Nur Alfian Hakim Bin Halim received the inaugural
Lee Kuan Yew Exemplary Student Award together
with his parents. The award affirms the resilience
and hardwork of students who have risen above the
odds to be exemplary role models.
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Shawn Goh represented Team Singapore in
Winter Olympics held in Austria and emerged
2nd runner up at the 222m Speed Skating
category.
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SOCIAL ENTERPRISE
AND EMPLOYMENT
DEVELOPMENT
“Coming together is a beginning; keeping together is
progress; working together is success.”
– Henry Ford
The Social Enterprise & Employment Development (SEED) team
provides care, training and employment opportunities for adults with
intellectual disabilities through a range of programmes designed
according to their capabilities. The committee aims to promote their
social and economic integration into gainful mainstream activities, so
as to enable them to lead independent lives.
The Employment Development Centres (EDCs) and Social Enterprise
(SE) programmes engage, train, and prepare clients for suitable
supported employment, assisted employment or open employment
opportunities. Selected clients are then placed under Hi-Job!, a Job
Placement and Job Support (JPJS) programme.
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CLIENT ENROLMENT
AND STAFF STRENGTH
(AS AT 31 MARCH 2018)
SIA-MINDS Employment
Development Centre (SMEDC)

369

CLIENTS

50

STAFF

Idea Employment
Development Centre
(IEDC)

296

CLIENTS

45

CLIENTS

350

STAFF

Job Placement Job
Support (JPJS)

166

Woodlands Employment
Development Centre
(WEDC)

CLIENTS

43

STAFF

Social Enterprise
(SE)

14

7

STAFF

STAFF

EDC PATHWAYS PROGRAMME
FOR LIFELONG LEARNING
The EDC Pathways Programme for Lifelong Learning was piloted in 2017. An individual lifelong
development and learning plan is devised based on clients’ support needs and skills to provide a
more holistic training approach. Some of the key domains of focus at the EDCs are basic functional
academic skills, developing a positive work attitude, age-appropriate work habits, interpersonal
skills, prosocial communication skills, self-management and other instrumental daily living skills for
greater independence and social integration. This programme aligns neatly with the third Enabling
Masterplan, a roadmap for Singapore to build a more inclusive society where persons with disabilities
are empowered and enabled to realise their true potential.

2.9 MILLION
SGD IN REVENUE

IMPACT REPORT

2017 was a record year for the sector. Revenue earned from MINDS’ social enterprises crossed
the S$1 million mark, surpassing the revenue earned from Contract Work. The stellar performance
was attributed largely to MINDS Bakers, and MINDS Craft. The growth of MINDS social enterprise
units is part of the team’s strategic plan to dedicate more resources towards producing market-driven
products and services.
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The implicit impact on MINDS clients as a direct result of the growth of the social enterprise
units is reflected in the tables below. Social Enterprises are classified under Core Projects
while In-House Projects are in reference to direct services provided by the EDCs.

3 Year Revenue by Segment

Client Engagement by Segment

FY 15/16

FY 17/18

FY 16/17

The number of clients engaged in Core Projects and In-House Projects have increased in
FY2017/2018, accounting for 37% of the total workforce.
With record-breaking revenues, clients will receive a bonus pay out for their hard work.
Moving forward, SEED will continue to grow its social enterprise units especially those with
high potential for scaling such as MINDS Bakers and MINDS Flavours.
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EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME
The Employment Development programme runs various projects that provide care,
training, and employment opportunities for clients. The objective is to promote their
advancement through sustainable employment and development opportunities.

40,000

DENTAL KITS PACKED

Dental Kit Project
Guava Amenities Pte Ltd contracted SMEDC
to pack dental kits for hotel guests. The project
involves clients assessing toothbrush quality and
packing a toothbrush and toothpaste into each
bag. Clients are capable of packing 40,000 dental
kits to meet the delivery deadline.

Luggage Tag Project
EDCs often strive to improve the work process for
clients. Last year, Training officer, Fendi, built a device
to improve client’s productivity. Using items such as
hand drills, plastics and wood pieces, Fendi engineered a
machine that cuts string for luggage tags. A job that was
once manual has been mechanised to improve clients’
productivity and learn a new skill. This is an example
of employees’ commitment to improve the lives of our
clients.

Medicated Plasters Project
The project was contracted to SMEDC by Kaiser
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd, where clients were
engaged to label and pack medicated plasters. The
project helps to improve their existing skills sets
and contextualise their skills in a broad range of
work activities.
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2000

MEDICATED PLASTERS
PACKED PER MONTH

Earphones Recycling
In 2017, Singapore Zoo contracted MINDS to recycle
earphones used on board their trolley buses. In efforts to be
environmentally friendly, they have engaged MINDS to check,
clean, recycle, and pack used earphones that would otherwise
be thrown away after one use.

Clean and Green Project
The EDCs started its Clean and Green project to train clients to provide cleaning and
maintenance services to the centres. The programme now has 20 clients across two
centres. They are taught to operate industrial vacuum cleaners and scrub machines
to increase their capabilities. Plans are currently underway to send the Clean and
Green team for Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) training programmes to
advance their skills and improve their knowledge.

Assisted by a staff and general worker, the clients of Clean and Green project help
ensure all toilets, stairways, walkways, phones, and bins are cleared and cleaned
regularly.
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CLIENTS TRAINED
IN CLEANING AND
MAINTENANCE SERVICES
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CREATING ECONOMIC
OPPORTUNITIES
MINDS Craft

Terrarium and hama beads workshops were introduced
last year to allow clients to teach participants a new
skill. During the workshops, clients get to interact and
guide participants. Such opportunities had enabled
clients to build their self-confidence. Barclays, Land
Transport Authority (LTA), OCE Pte Ltd, Mitsubishi
Motor Singapore, and Temasek Holdings were among
the companies that participated in the workshops.

MINDS Craft introduced stainless
steel tumblers in its product line
in 2017. It was very well received,
garnering huge corporate orders from
companies like Work Development
Authority.
The calendar (above) was commissioned by Kaiser
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd, which depicts 12 different
fruits representing different months of the year. These
watercolour paintings were singlehandedly painted
by Mr Aldie Bin Mohd Sujak, a talented MINDS Craft
artist together with the guidance of his training officer.

18 clients from MINDS Craft were selected for batik painting and copper tooling to advance their
skills set. These workshops were conducted by one of Singapore’s finest batik artists, Mr Sujak
Rahman.
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MINDS Perform
MINDS Perform had the privilege of representing Singapore at the
Asia-Pacific Development Center on Disability, Disability-Inclusive
Drum Performance in Thailand. Clad in traditional ethnic clothings,
the MINDS Perform troupe performed “Singa Roar” – a unique
blend of rhythms and beats that symbolises the harmonious life and
inclusiveness of Singapore’s four different ethnic groups.

Besides gaining more exposure from its performance at Bangkok, the MINDS Perform troupe had also
gained the invaluable experience of learning to be more independent and disciplined in a foreign country.

400KG

VEGETABLES HARVESTED

MINDS Farm
In 2017, MINDS Farm achieved a total of eight
crop harvests as they planted three different types
of vegetables, namely Xiao Bai Cai, Pak Choy and
Kailan. Clients were taught farming techniques
and greenhouse maintenance. They were also
trained to prepare the soil for the next crop cycle
by removing the roots and stems. Training also
included the construction of greenhouse benches.
The success of the greenhouse led to the
commencement of a second greenhouse in
October 2017 with an additional 14 clients trained
for the job. Training method was further refined to
simplify the learning process and enable clients to
pick up the skills effortlessly.

Clients are trained to maintain the ground by weeding,
filling sands, and adding salts.
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LAUNDRY ENCLAVE
10 clients are employed by Smart Linen Solution in a hybrid enclave model. A training
officer is present to provide training and behavioural management to clients while
working alongside other employees to fold, stack, and tie towels into bundles.
During festive seasons or on clients’ birthday, the employer will organise a small
celebration for them. Such celebrations not only break the monotony of work, they also
make the clients feel special and valued as employees.

LAUNCHING THE SOCIAL
COMBINATOR
Social Combinator is a new initiative where MINDS collaborates with entrepreneurs
and business owners to co-develop business ideas by providing production space and
employees. To ensure the success of the programme, MINDS also provides wraparound
services.

Tinkle Arts Pte Ltd
In January 2018, six clients were selected for Train and Trial at Tinkle Arts where
they were trained to make miniature clay art. After the training period, all clients are
employed by Tinkle Arts.

Clients are employed by Tinkle Arts Pte Ltd to
do miniature clay art.
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WHERE HEARTS MEET

Batik Painting
In October 2017, clients from MINDS Craft
befriended staff from People’s Association
during a Batik Painting session. Clients and
participants learned the techniques and
skills of batik painting.

The volunteers and clients went home with a beautiful batik
painting to call their own.

The staycation enabled the caregivers to have a rate holiday with their loved ones.

Staycation at Sofitel Singapore City Centre
In appreciation of the hard work the caregivers have put in relentlessly to care for their loved ones, Sofitel
Singapore City Centre gifted 50 complimentary room nights to MINDS. Caregivers got to enjoy the hotel
facilities with their charges for a day and enjoyed a sumptuous buffet breakfast the next day. It is a rare treat for
many of the caregivers as some of them had never had the chance to stay in a hotel before.
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Inter-EDC Challenge 2017
The annual Inter-EDC challenge was held at Innova
Junior College where 180 clients and 60 staff from three
centres pit their skills in various events such as Track &
Field, Soccer and Unified Captain’s Ball. Sponsored by
Feinmetall Singapore and SG Cares, the event featured
a carnival with booths serving popcorn, candy floss,
and ice-cream. Clients who did not participate in the
competition were given the opportunity to learn to play
soccer at the Futsal Clinic conducted by SportCares.
The event ended with WEDC emerging as the overall
champion for the Inter-EDC Challenge 2017.

After much intense playing amongst the contenders.
WEDC emerged victorious as the overall champion for
the Inter-EDC challenge.

Staff Team-Building at Cookyn Inc

The first prize went to the teams who cooked French and Spanish cuisines!
As part of the team-building activity, the staff of MINDS EDC teamed up and assumed the role of “Masterchefs”
to whip up a variety of cuisines from all over the world such as Singaporean (Chili Crab with Buns), Italian
(Ravioli with Tomato Sauce), Spanish (Baked Salmon with Smoked Duck), and French cuisines (Roasted Chicken
Leg stuffed with Feta Cheese). The teams were also given a box filled with mystery ingredients to create their
own unique dessert within a stipulated time.
It was a fun and engaging session with everyone participating in the preparation of the dishes. The cooking
studio emanated whiffs of delicious aromas while the staff created new recipes and dish presentations in a
tremendously lively atmosphere.
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HI-JOB!
Hi-Job! Job Placement Job Support Programme
In FY2017, Hi-Job! collaborated with several employers such as NTUC FairPrice, Cheers, Japan Food
Holdings, Volvo, National University Hospital and Sheraton Hotels Singapore to create new and
diverse job opportunities for its clients. Through outreach efforts, Hi-Job! received more than 100 job
opportunities in the food & beverage, cleaning and hospitality industry - achieving its objective of 120
placements.

240
CLIENTS
ASSESSED

135

CLIENTS PLACED IN
THE OPEN EMPLOYMENT
PROGRAMME

Open Employment Success Story

BAKER’S ASSISTANT
AT BREADTALK
Ong Jun Jie
Ong Jun Jie was diagnosed with intellectual disability
and Tourette syndrome when he was young. However, his
condition did not stop him from excelling at the things
he likes especially during his stint at MINDS Flavours
in MINDS IEDC. Seeing his keen interest in the food
& beverage industry, and the potential to work in open
employment, the Hi-Job team recommended a position
at BreadTalk, where he worked as Baker’s Assistant. His
responsibilities include dough preparation and packing
bread. His co-workers were very understanding and
mentored him. His supervisor has also commended on his
high quality of work.
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“I AM HAPPY TO WORK WITH
MY COLLEAGUES AND GET THE
JOB DONE.”
Cheng Siew Ping

After Siew Ping graduated from MINDS Towner Gardens School, she began her career at MINDS WEDC where she
learned to recycle headsets. Seeing that she had the potential to perform more sophisticated tasks, her training
officer arranged for her to work under MINDS Enclave team. Initially, she was apprehensive with the new duties and
the change of environment, but with support she was able to adapt quickly and master the required skills.
She was then referred to MINDS Hi-Job! who arranged for her to work as an Environment Service Associate at Yishun
Community Hospital. Being thrust in another new environment without the familiar presence of her peers was odd
for her as she struggled to work independently. Yet she managed to overcome the challenge and worked things out
together with her colleagues. She excelled in her work and was awarded the “Most Helpful Trainee” award from
WEDC for her exemplary performance. Currently, apart from her usual job duties, she was also given the opportunity
to expand her portfolio and take up new responsibilities.

FROM SHYNESS TO CONFIDENCE
Muhd Zulkiffli Bin Ibrahim
Muhd Zulkiffli joined MINDS in April 2009. This
quiet young teenager was very dedicated in his job
and always eager to do more. Seeing that he had a
lot of enthusiasm in work, Zulkiffli was arranged
to work in MINDS Shop. Working at the front
line of the job was a challenge for the shy young
man, but he managed to go beyond his comfort
zone to assist customers with their queries.
He became more confident and showed a lot of
improvement in his work. Zulkiffli chanced upon
his next job opportunity when MINDS Wash was
looking for more clients to join the project as part
of its expansion. After a few training sessions and
assessment, Zulkiffli was successfully employed
by MINDS Wash. Witnessing how Zulkiffli has
changed from a shy and quiet boy to a confident
and competent young man, his parents were both
happy and humbled by his success.
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RESIDENTIAL AND
COMMUNITY-BASED
CARE SERVICES
“Alone we can do so little; together
we can do so much.”
– Helen Keller
Through its multi-service centre at MINDSville@Napiri, MINDS
provides specialised residential care and services, respite care, as
well as short and long-term care services for persons with intellectual
disability (PWIDs) from six years old and above.
MINDS also provides Home-based Care Services (HBCS) to support
PWIDs through therapy services (i.e. Occupational Therapy,
Physiotherapy), training, and care provision at the comfort of their
own home to enable those who are not receiving any other services,
continue to live and participate meaningfully in the community. In
addition, MINDS also set up a befriending programme named Me Too!
Club (MTC) to enhance the social integration of PWIDs through leisure
and befriending activities.
For PWIDS who require higher level of support and greater specialised
intervention to enhance their independence, MINDS operates eight
Training & Development Centres (TDCs) across Singapore.
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CLIENT MUSTER AND
STAFF STRENGTH
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EXPANSION OF TDCS –
YTDC AND FTDC

At the YTDC’s opening, Muhammad Afiq bin Jamil
demonstrating to Associate Professor Muhammad
Faishal the assembling of the stool. The activity
enabled clients to build their vocational and gross
motor skills.

Khairun Nissah folding hand towels with guidance
from her training officer as part of her training on
vocational skills.

MINDS’ first autism-focused day activity centre, MINDS Yishun Training & Development Centre (YTDC)
was officially opened by Senior Parliamentary Secretary of the Ministry of Social and Family Development
& Ministry of Education, Associate Professor Muhammad Faishal Ibrahim on 31 January 2018.
The opening of the seventh TDC marked MINDS’ inaugural move to dedicate more resources towards the
holistic care of persons with moderate to severe autism spectrum disorder (ASD). Strategically located in
the heartlands of Yishun, clients are constantly engaged in various activities through collaborations with its
neighbouring corporates such as SAFRA Yishun Country Club, and Khoo Teck Puat Hospital.
MINDS had also started operating its eighth TDC, MINDS Faber Training & Development Centre (FTDC) in
2017, thus successfully alleviating the waitlist accumulated in the western region of Singapore. Residing on
the second level of a multi-purpose community facility at Clementi, FTDC is strategically placed at the heart
of the community, enabling clients to enjoy a wealth of outdoor activity options.
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ENHANCEMENT OF COMMUNITYBASED SERVICES

Clients and caregivers visited the only special
needs dental clinic in Singapore, where
clients and caregivers learned more about
maintaining dental health and oral hygiene.

Clients and caregivers writing their wishes on
a sky lantern during MTC’s first overseas trip
to Kukup, Malaysia. The trip enabled them to
travel beyond Singapore and bond with fellow
caregivers and friends.

Since piloted in September 2014, HBCS had gained good traction over the past years with a steady increase in
the number of clients. The clients were also seen to have a reduction in behaviours of concern and improvements
in activities of daily living and social skills.
Apart from providing therapy and organising activities, clients were also given the opportunity to participate in
MTC activities to build on the full spectrum of skills.
Through words of mouth and recruitment through online platforms, MTC had also gained popularity with an
increase of more than 10 clients and 30 volunteers over the year. In addition to HBCS clients, MTC also organised
activities for part-time TDC clients to engage in meaningful social activities even outside the centre. Spanned
across a broad spectrum of activities, clients have been engaged in art therapy, baking, volunteering at Ren Ci
Hospital, flower arrangement, and pottery.
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COMMUNITY MODEL
Piloted in April 2016, the Community Model is a new community
living skills training programme that aims to increase the community
functioning of the clients with the eventual goal of independent
living within the community. The programme enables clients with low
support needs to spend more of their training time on community
participation and contextualisation of community living skills on the
natural environment.
In addition, this programme capitalises on community facilities and
activities to learn to travel by public transport, order and purchase
lunch from neighbourhood eateries, do simple budgeting, appreciate
art and nature in community parks, and volunteer at other organisations
to contribute to the community within their capabilities.
Since its inception, clients are more confident and engaged in the
various activities. They are also more aware of social situations as they
acquire more independent living skills in the process. Their caregivers
are also satisfied with their remarkable improvement.
The success of the programme had led to more resources dedicated to
this area, enabling the programme to be replicated in other centres.
This will also help in promoting social inclusion in the community.
Clients under the community model
programme enjoy a wide range of activities
such as reading in a community library,
swimming, and art therapy.

ACTIVE SUPPORT FOR ADULTS
WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITY

The new pilot project, Project
Engage, employs active support to
engage clients of varying support
needs in activities of their choice.

Employing Active Support, a person-centred approach providing direct support, as a proactive strategy to engage adult
clients with intellectual disability. With this programme, MINDS ensures that even clients suffering from the most
significant disabilities are engaged in a variety of life activities and opportunities of their choice.
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Using a systematic approach to support PWIDs to become engaged in a range of everyday activities and
relationships that are meaningful so as to enhance their health, well-being, and quality of life, the use of active
support has seen increased engagement in meaningful activities and adaptive behaviours.
MINDS is piloting a new project – Project Engage, at MINDS NTDC where clients enjoy the freedom to choose their
preferred activities from a medley of activities that include but not limited to cooking, art and craft, interaction
with pets, and yoga. The initial response had been very positive, as staff had observed an increase in clients’
participation, social interaction, and an improvement in their behaviour.

CAREGIVERS’ SUPPORT

The centres regularly organise activities for
caregivers such as one-day shopping trip to
Johor Bahru.
With Government subsidies availed for respite care at MINDS’ Home and Hostel, MINDS is seeing more caregivers
seeking respite care for their child or ward in the residential services, helping them to alleviate their stress and
prevent burnout.
MINDS organises regular visits, home leave, and activities to ensure caregivers foster strong bonds with their
child who is placed in long-term care at the Home, Hostel or Children’s Wing. MINDS is also actively engaging the
caregivers with the aim of re-integrating these children with their families once they turn 19 years old.
Community-based services such as TDCs, HBCS, and Me Too! Club help provide caregivers some form of relief
from caregiving and allow them to pursue their personal interests or to seek employment when their children
attend these services.
Recognising the complex emotional, physical and psychological factors that go into being a caregiver, MINDS will
not only be extending the operating hours of its care centres but also providing a “first-of-its-kind”, customised
and flexible respite care for caregivers.
In addition to the many initiatives carried out such as Parents’ dialogues and home visits, this new programme
will enable caregivers to take a much-needed rest, run important errands or reconnect with friends and family at
their convenience.
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VOLUNTEERS’
ENGAGEMENT

Through regular volunteering opportunities,
clients are given the oppurtunity to expand
their horizons.
The residential services and TDCs have an active pool of corporate and individual volunteers that enables
clients to enjoy a regular stream of social and recreational activities throughout the year.
In addition, the Me Too! Club programme regularly engages volunteers to conduct regular activities and home
visits for its clients. MINDS will continue to work with the local community and engage volunteers, donors, and
sponsors to enhance its service delivery.

STAFF TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT
To ensure that new staff have the essential set of
competencies to manage PWIDs, the RCCS committee
introduced a structured three-year induction and training
programme that teaches them about PWIDs and training
methodologies.
Staff are also regularly sent for advanced and relevant
trainings in areas specific to their professions such as
courses in ASD, first aid, positive behavioural support,
strategies for managing challenging behaviours, and
ageing and geriatric care. On top of this, MINDS will create
platforms such as in-service training and workshops
for staff to share ideas on the implementation of the
curriculum while learning about instructional strategies
to carry out trainings effectively.
In one of the trainings,
blindfolded and tasked to
instructions. The activity
experience how information
differently.

participants were
listen and follow
enabled them to
can be interpreted
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ALLIED HEALTH
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
“He who has health has hope; and he
who has hope, has everything.”
– Arabian Proverb
MINDS’ Allied Health Professional (AHP) Services team is comprised of
65 Psychologists (Psys), Social Workers (SWs), Occupational Therapists
(OTs), Physiotherapists (PTs), and Speech and Language Therapists (SLTs)
to provide a range of holistic care services to MINDS clients and their
families, staff, and volunteers across all MINDS’ centres and schools.
AHP services are guided by a panel of expert volunteers in the subcommittee (Dr Chua Hong Choon, Dr Wong Mei Yin, Mr JR Karthikeyan,
and Mr Frederick Low), led by Mr Manojit Sen, who is also MINDS Board
member.
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QUALITY AND EVIDENCEBASED SERVICES FOR
CLIENTS AND FAMILIES
MINDS AHP team is committed to delivering quality client and family service and
this is evidenced in the AHP Services Satisfaction Survey. To enable the team to
consistently fine-tune their approach and strategies, the satisfaction survey was
conducted in which 97% of the caregivers were satisfied with the services rendered.
93% of the staff also felt positively about the AHP team.

Caregivers: Overall, I am satisfied with the AHP services provided.

MINDS Staff: Overall, I am satisfied with the AHP services provided.
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In the FY2017/2018, the AHP team reached out to more than 18,000 cases, which include active, consultation
cases, and casework-related activities such as home visits, assessments and reports, case conference etc. During
this period, there were more than 1,600 group interventions for clients.

Signposts for Building Better Behaviour and Hanen
The AHP team had also conducted evidence-based services such as Signposts for Building Better Behaviour and
Hanen: It Takes Two to Talk, etc. Designed to help caregivers of children with developmental needs to manage
their behaviours of concern, Signposts help to equip parents and caregivers with a deep level of understanding of
their child’s behaviour, develop their own ways to manage them effectively and prevent further development of
behavioural concerns. There are currently nine Psys, two SWs, and two SLTs who are certified Signposts trainers.
All SLTs in MINDS are trained and certified in delivering the Hanen communication programme.

Key Word Sign (KWS)
Key Word Sign (KWS), an evidence-based communication programme, is currently in its fourth year of
implementation. Currently, there are three certified KWS presenters in MINDS. There are plans to build staff
capability in this area.
To promote fluency and accuracy in the use of KWS, the team has come up with several initiatives such as Signs
of the Month to expand staff’s vocabulary. Video clips of theme songs sang with KWS were also sent to staff to
encourage creative use of KWS.

Using KWS in every way!

“KWS Sing & Skit” competition was also held to
encourage staff to use KWS in a fun and creative way.
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Siblings Team Initiative

The Siblings Team Initiative was developed
in 2010 as a support programme to reach out
to siblings of clients. Since its introduction, it
has grown in popularity amongst siblings. The
team plans to pioneer a support group for adult
siblings in 2018.
Over the years, sibling leaders have been
identified to take on more leadership role and
planning functions. This year, four events were
planned for the younger and older siblings,
which sibling leaders helped co-organise.

Bonded by a common goal, the siblings have each other to depend
on as they work towards paving a greater future for PWIDs.

Transdisciplinary Service Delivery
The complex needs of persons with intellectual
disability (PWIDs) usually require the expertise
and knowledge of different professions. To deliver
services across multiple disciplines efficiently,
MINDS implemented a transdisciplinary model where
teachers, AHP staff, and caregivers collaborated and
contributed knowledge and skills to collectively
devise an intervention plan, which would be delivered
by one key person. In 2017, a pilot study was carried
out at MINDS Woodlands Gardens School to assess
the efficacy of the model.
The findings revealed that nearly 90% of the students
achieved 80% of the goals set. Parents and teachers
had also expressed positive feedback about the
model as they appreciate the holistic intervention
plan, single point of contact, and seamless teamwork.
Special education services are usually provided in a
piece-by-piece fashion with individual support staff
each scheduling service to the student once or twice a
week. To enable students to receive adequate therapy
services in a timely fashion, a transdisciplinary model
was implemented.

40

QUALITY TRAINING FOR
CAREGIVERS, STAFF AND
VOLUNTEERS
Over the year, the AHPs team delivered 150 trainings for close to 1,000 caregivers, staff, and volunteers.
The trainings received an average satisfaction rate of 80 – 90% from participants.

The AHPs delivering training to staff,
caregivers, and volunteers. These trainings
helped increase their capability in caring
for PWIDs.

CAREGIVERS CONFERENCE

The AHPs team ran four concurrent
sessions during the Caregivers’ Conference
2017, covering a wide breadth of topics
including Physical Fitness and Exercises for
Caregivers, Building Better Communication
through the Hanen Approach, Siblings Team,
and Transition to Work.

Social workers facilitating the group sessions during the
Caregivers’ Conference 2017.
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PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT AND
STAFF WELFARE
Applied Research Studies
The emphasis on building a practitioner-scientist culture among AHPs has led to more AHPs conducting applied
research studies in relation to their client work. The past year saw a total of 14 research studies conducted, which
resulted in eight papers being presented at international conferences and published in peer-reviewed disability
journals.

MAY 2017
Conferences

Paper

BILD Positive Behaviour Support International
Research and Practice Conference. Bristol, UK.

1. Exploring Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) in
professionals within the disability sector in Singapore

AGOSCI Conference. Melbourne, Australia.

2. Key Word Sign @ MINDS- Where are we now?

NOVEMBER 2017
Conferences

Paper

IASSIDD Asia-Pacific Conference

3. Exploring the views of students with moderate
intellectual disability in special education settings on
their quality of life.
4. Development of the Work Support Profile (WSP) - An
Instrument to Assess Support Needs of Adults with
Intellectual Disabilities in Sheltered Employment.
5. An organisation-wide approach to implementing Key
Word Sign among disability support workers in Singapore
6. Evaluating the effectiveness of support programme for
siblings of persons with intellectual and developmental
disabilities in Singapore over a five-year period.
7. Identifying support needs of elderly caregivers of clients
with intellectual disabilities in supported employment
services in Singapore
9. Assessing manual dexterity in adults with intellectual
disability and developing Singapore norms of the “Box
and Block Hand Function Test” - A study on adults with
moderate intellectual disability in Singapore.
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Ms Eva Loh, Head of SLT, presenting the
KWS paper at the AGOSCI Conference in
Melbourne, Australia.
MINDS’ delegation at the IASSIDD 4th Asia Pacific
Regional Congress.
Other research studies that were carried out were presented at the first MINDS Applied Research Forum.
Organised by the MINDS Institute of Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (MIIDD), the MINDS’
Applied Research Forum functioned as a platform to share the applied research work done with the rest
of the teachers, training officers, AHPs, and management staff. The topics covered include Research on
Quality Life, Employment, Caregivers, Positive Behaviour Support and Communication.

ANNUAL RETREAT
Themed “Breathe in the Breeze”, the retreat
was held at National Service Resort Country
Club (NSRCC) Sea Sports Centre this year
where the team had a fun-filled day immersing
themselves in outdoor activities such as laser
tag, dodge ball, and art jamming.
A talk on “The Core Theory of Success” was
delivered by the guest speaker.

AHP Retreat is a yearly highlight for all AHPs to come
together for a day of team bonding, fun and professional
development.
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MINDS INSTITUTE OF
INTELLECTUAL AND
DEVELOPMENTAL
DISABILITIES
“Research is creating new knowledge.”
– Neil Armstrong
Established in 2017, MINDS Institute of Intellectual and Developmental
Disabilities (MIIDD) provides thought and practice leadership so as to
upkeep the high quality of service delivery to our clients and caregivers.
MIIDD strives to build a culture of evidence-based practice and applied
research within MINDS so that our clients and caregivers continue to
receive quality services and enjoy good quality of life.
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ADVANCING MINDS
Mindfulness Training
One of MIIDD’s initiatives to promote evidencebased practices across centres and schools was
organising short training workshops for staff,
which were delivered by international experts. The
inaugural workshop held by MIIDD was “Brief Oneday Mindfulness Training”. Studies have shown that
staff who attended mindfulness training reported
increase in awareness for signs and sources of
stress, positive change in self-care attitudes and
behaviours, and improved interactions with clients
and colleagues.
Clinical Professor Nirbhay Singh, an international
expert on mindfulness and intellectual disability,
conducted the training.
The training saw a total of 120 participants with staff
from MINDS and other organisations in attendance.
It had garnered positive feedback, with 93% of them
found the training useful and applicable to their
daily course of work. A study is also currently being
conducted by MIIDD on the effects of the training on
staff mental well-being and stress.

Practising mindfulness: Mindfulness trainings
help improve well-being, physical and emotional
health of individuals, and increase their
productivity.

Integrated Lifespan Curriculum
In collaboration with the Centre for Disability
Studies (University of Sydney), MIIDD had developed
an integrated lifespan curriculum for its clients,
which incorporated the current special education
curriculum with a post-18 adult curriculum. Aligning
itself with international best practice standards, the
curriculum aims to enhance clients’ lifelong learning
and development through holistic and evidence-based
approach. Staff will be trained and equipped with the
relevant competency skills to ensure the curriculum is
delivered effectively.

Autism Training
In view of the increase in the number of clients with
Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) in MINDS’ centres
and schools, MIIDD had collaborated with the Autism
Centre for Excellence (Griffith University, Australia),
to conceptualise the development and delivery of
accredited courses in Autism for its staff. It aims to
equip all direct-care professionals with the foundation
knowledge and training in Autism while at the same
time, provide pathways for them to obtain higher-level
training.
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APPLIED RESEARCH
To build a culture of evidence-based practice and applied research across all MINDS’ centres and schools,
several efforts have been made within and beyond the organisation. Such efforts included:

1. Conference Papers
A total of 14 conference papers co-authored by 18 MINDS employees were presented at international and
regional conferences

2. Research Publications
A total of 4 papers co-authored by 12 MINDS employees were successfully published in international
peer-reviewed journals. The papers covered practice areas such as caregiving, positive behaviour support,
mindfulness and employment

3. Editorial Work
MINDS Deputy CEO, Dr Jeffrey Chan and Applied Research Fellow, Mr Vimallan Manokara were invited
to provide editorial services for the International Association for the Scientific Study of Intellectual and
Developmental Disabilities (IASSIDD) conference 2017.

MINDS’ IASSIDD delegation together
with staff and persons with special needs
from Thailand.

Dr Jeffrey Chan and Mr Vimallan
Manokara chairing symposiums at
IASSIDD Conference 2017 in Bangkok,
Thailand. They were also invited to
provide editorial services for the
conference.
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CONFERENCE AND
PUBLICATION LIST 2017
Research Publications
Manokara, V., Chan, J., Lim, H. C., & Penchaliah, S. (2017). Exploring the knowledge and competency of positive
behavioural support (PBS) amongst disability professionals in Singapore. International Journal of Positive
Behavioural Support, 7,2, 49–58.
Manokara, V., Kishore, M. & Lee Pei Yi, Y. (2018). Development of the MINDS Client Profile Checklist for
Determining the Vocational Competency of Adults with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. Advances in
Neurodevelopmental Disorders. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41252-017-0048-y
Nirbhay N. Singh, Jeffrey Chan, Bryan T. Karazsia, Carrie L. McPherson
& Monica M. Jackman (2017) Tele-health training of teachers to teach a mindfulness-based procedure for selfmanagement of aggressive behavior to students with intellectual and developmental disabilities, International
Journal of Developmental Disabilities, 63:4, 195-203.
Teo, M., Lim, E., Tan, J.H., Ho, E., Zetty, A. M. E., Jamila, M. (2017). Identifying support needs of elderly caregiversof
clients with intellectual disabilities in supported employment services in Singapore. Asia-pacific journal of
intellectual disabilities, 4(2), 21-30.

Conference And Other Paper Presentations
Chan, J. (January, 2017). Making Mindfulness Real in Organizational Practice: Reflecting on a personal journey.
Invited paper at the Singapore Management University’s Mindfulness Conference 13th – 14th January, SMU,
Singapore.
Chan, J. (February, 2017). Approaches, Principles and Practice in Working with Persons with Disabilities: The
Application of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Invited paper at the Ministry of
Social and Family Development, Office of the Director of Social Welfare’s 5th Workshop Mining Deep & Scaling
Heights, 3rd February, Social Service Institute, Singapore.
Kishore, M. (November, 2017). Making a Successful Transition to Work: Crucial Factors for Positive Employment
Outcomes for Adults with Intellectual Disabilities. Paper presented at the Asian Federation of Intellectual
Disabilities (AFID), 18th -24th November, Dhaka, Bangladesh.
Loh, E. (May, 2017). Key Word Sign @ MINDS in Singapore – Where are we now? Paper presented at the AGOSCI
13th Biennial National Conference, 17th – 20th May, The Grand Hyatt, Melbourne.
Loh, E., Chan, J. (November, 2017). An organisation-wide approach to implementing Key Word Sign among
disability support workers in Singapore. Paper presentation at the 4th IASSIDD Asia-Pacific Regional Congress,
11th – 13th November, Ambassador Hotel, Bangkok, Thailand.
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Manokara, V., Chan, J., Lim, H., & Penchalliah, S. (May, 2017). Exploring Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) in
professionals within the disability sector in Singapore. Paper presented at the British Institute of Learning
Disabilities’ 8th International Positive Behaviour Support International Research and Practice Conference, 4th
– 5th May 2017, Birmingham, United Kingdom.
Manokara, V., & Chan, J. (November, 2017). The characteristics of sustained open employment for people with
disabilities: The views of persons with disabilities, their caregivers and employers. Paper presentation at the 4th
IASSIDD Asia-Pacific Regional Congress, 11th – 13th November, Ambassador Hotel, Bangkok, Thailand.
Manokara, M., Kishore, M., & Lee, Y.P., Penchaliah, S., Lim, H., Chan, J., Tan, P., Wong, S.S., Ng, J.Y., Gwee, A.J., Tan,
C. (November, 2017). Development of the Work Support Profile (WSP) - An Instrument to Assess Support Needs
of Adults with Intellectual Disabilities in Sheltered Employment. Paper presentation at the 4th IASSIDD AsiaPacific Regional Congress, 11th – 13th November, Ambassador Hotel, Bangkok, Thailand.
McVilly, K., Smith, P., McGillivray, J, & Chan, J. (November, 2017). Social Enterprise as a Means of Promoting
Vocational Opportunities for People with Intellectual Disabilities. Paper presentation at the 4th IASSIDD AsiaPacific Regional Congress, 11th – 13th November, Ambassador Hotel, Bangkok, Thailand.
Ng, Rei Na (June 2017). “The Social Combinator, An Innovative Approach in Creating Assisted Employment
to Persons with Moderate to Severe Intellectual Disability”. Paper presented at Workability International &
Workability Asia Conference 2017, 12-14 June 2017, Kerry Hotel, Hung Hom, Hong Kong).
Rajagopal, A.R., Palanivel, M. (November, 2017). Developing Norms of Manual Dexterity of the Box and Block
hand function Test- A study on adults with Intellectual Disability in Singapore. Poster presentation at the 4th
IASSIDD Asia-Pacific Regional Congress, 11th – 13th November, Ambassador Hotel, Bangkok, Thailand
Tay, Y.P., Koh, S. (November, 2017). Evaluating the effectiveness of support programme for siblings of persons
with intellectual and developmental disabilities in Singapore over a five-year period. Paper presentation at the
4th IASSIDD Asia-Pacific Regional Congress, 11th – 13th November, Ambassador Hotel, Bangkok, Thailand.
Teo, M. K. L., Tan, J. H., Lim, E. M. K., Mustaffa, J. B. (November, 2017). Identifying the support needs of elderly
caregivers of clients with intellectual disabilities in supported employment services in Singapore. Poster
presentation at the 4th IASSIDD Asia-Pacific Regional Congress, 11th – 13th November, Ambassador Hotel,
Bangkok, Thailand
Wang, T., Ng, R. H., Manokara, V. (November, 2017). Exploring the views of students with moderate intellectual
disability in special education settings on their quality of life. Paper presentation at the 4th IASSIDD Asia-Pacific
Regional Congress, 11th – 13th November, Ambassador Hotel, Bangkok, Thailand.

49

MINDS AS A THOUGHT
AND PRACTICE LEADER
As a thought and practice leader in the social service sector, MINDS has provided expertise for the following:

1. Early Intervention Project
Dr Jeffrey Chan was invited as subject matter expert by Lien Foundation for a project on early intervention

2. NCS Coalition of Research
Dr Jeffrey Chan and Mr Vimallan Manokara represent MINDS as coalition of research to provide thought leadership
to sector level applied research and advocacy work.

3. Project Briefs and Technical Reports
MIIDD authored two policy briefs on the topics of “Transition to Retirement” and “Inclusive Education” and a
technical report on “Sustainable Open Employment”. These were disseminated across MINDS’ schools and centres
as well as in the disability sector.

4. Fee-for-services Clinical Consulation
MIIDD was invited to provide quarterly clinical consultations for staff of another disability organisation on
managing behaviours of concern for their clients.

SELF-ADVOCACY
PROJECT
“Our Lives, Our Voices”
“Our Lives, Our Voices” is a self-advocacy joint project
with the Down Syndrome Association (Singapore) (DSA(S))
that aims to empower persons with intellectual and
developmental disabilities. First of its kind in Singapore,
participants are trained to speak about their lives and
aspirations, and deliver their stories at various organised
“Our Lives, Our Voices” platforms. Upon graduation, they
can also choose to lead self-advocacy groups with support
from MINDS and DSA(S).
In February 2018, three self-advocates were invited by
Victorian Advocacy League for Individuals with Disability,
an organisation in Victoria, Australia that advocates for
people with a disability, to deliver a keynote presentation
at its “Having A Say” conference in Geelong, Australia.
Currently, there are 41 self-advocates and the number is
expected to grow.
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CAREGIVERS
SUPPORT
SERVICES
“Caring about others, running the risk of feeling and
leaving an impact on people, brings happiness.”
– Harold Kushner
The MINDS Caregivers Support Services (CSS) team strives to
provide caregivers with adequate support across transition points
and development phases through a comprehensive range of support
mechanisms that will address their caregiving, financial, social-emotional
and training needs. Through the services provided, CSS hopes to relieve
them the stress of the caregiving role and enable them to enjoy a fulfilling
life with satisfaction in the role.
The CSS team reaches out to all caregivers of MINDS to provide them
not only the necessary resources to empower and support them in
the caregiving responsibilities, but also opportunities for respite care
through such services as:
• Information Provision
• Emotional and social support through counselling, networking and
family bonding programmes
• Financial support through referrals
• Stress management and caregivers’ self-care activities
• Caregivers’ training programmes to enhance caregiving competencies
• Collaboration for advocacy, research and innovation
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CAREGIVERS
CONFERENCE 2017
One of the key initiatives pioneered by the team was organising the Caregivers Conference 2017. Held on 22 July
2017, the Caregivers Conference was the first conference organised at a national level for caregivers of persons with
varying special needs. Graced by Associate Professor Muhammad Faishal Ibrahim, Senior Parliamentary Secretary
of the Ministry of Social & Family Development and Ministry of Education, the conference was a success with over
200 caregivers and professionals in attendance.
The conference also saw concurrent sessions being held, covering such topics as deputyship application matters,
transition to work, role of siblings and care planning initiatives. The conference ended with a focus group discussion
for caregivers to share about their learnings and ideas on effective caregivers outreach. The caregivers all found
the conference topics informative and interesting. They had also expressed their interest to participate in future
conferences.

Themed “Connect, Share & Be the Difference”, the Caregivers Conference aimed to empower and equip caregivers
with skills to better care for their loved ones as well as themselves. Dr Nirbhay Singh, renowned international
speaker, delivered the keynote address who shared more about employing mindfulness as a technique to relieve
stress for families and caregivers.
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CAREGIVERS
CAPABILITY BUILDING
Training Workshops
In FY2017/2018, the CSS team had organised more than
30 training workshops as part of their Caregivers’ Life
Span Training Roadmap, a roadmap conceptualised to
match caregivers’ training needs with the developmental
milestones of persons with special needs. Some of the
topics shared included ‘Strategies to Help Your Child to
be More Independent at Home’; ‘Effective Co-parenting
in Maximising Child’s Potential’; ‘Work Skill Facilitation
through Fine Motor Activities’; ‘Managing Expectations’
and ‘Sign Posts for Building Better Behaviour’. These
topics helped to increase the confidence and skills of
caregivers in their caregiving role.
More caregivers are increasingly keen to attend longerformat workshops. A group of caregivers recently
attended a four-day workshop on ‘Mental Health Issues
of Persons with Special Needs’ conducted by caregivers
from Caregivers Alliance Limited, which ran once a week
for four weeks.

Close to 10 caregivers attended a five-day workshop on
‘Key Word Sign” conducted by Eva Loh, Head of Speech &
Language Therapist, that was held once a month for five
months.

Activities conducted by caregivers included art & craft sessions, floral arrangements, which provided them an
opportunity to foster closer relationship with one another.

Caregivers Activities
Caregiver leaders from schools and centres such as MINDS Woodlands Gardens School and MINDS Clementi
Training & Development Centre banded together and organised activities for other caregivers. Such activities as
art & craft and cooking lessons provided an opportunity for them to bond and develop friendships together.
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ENHANCING
C A R EG IVE RS’ W EL L-BEIN G
Social Support and Bonding
The Caregivers Support Initiatives (CSIs) from
MINDS’ schools and centres organised close to 40
activities, which aimed to foster family relationships
and encourage social interactions among caregivers.
More than 1,000 new caregivers participated in these
activities.
Last year’s activities included outings to places
of interest and day trips to farms, thus providing
opportunities for families to bond with their children.
Through these activities, families have also become
more confident to bring them out.

Respite Activities

Caregivers enjoying themselves and appreciating the
wonders of nature at Gardens by the Bay with their loved
ones.

The CSSC organised a trip to Kiwani Careheart Centre in Johor Bahru where 30 caregivers had the opportunity
to expand their knowledge and understand more about the programmes the centre provides for persons with
intellectual disability. Following the success of the trip, a second trip was organised for caregivers at SIA-MINDS
Employment Development Centre.
In addition, fathers were also invited to participate in a bonding activity to the Zoo where they interacted and
bonded with their children with special needs. Such activities provide opportunity for fathers to play an active
role in caregiving while mothers enjoy a day of respite.

Out and about: The fathers enjoying a rare day out
together with their children at the Singapore Zoo.
The caregivers appreciating the flora and fauna at
Kiwani Careheart Centre. The trip provided them an
opportunity to rest, relax and enjoy themselves.
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Future Care Planning
One of the utmost concerns echoed by
caregivers is how the future would pan out for
their child. To address their concern, MINDS’
Social Workers and CSSC organised sessions
to assist caregivers in care planning, equipping
them with the skills and knowledge to plan for
their child’s future. In addition, MINDS staff
also organised one-on-one sessions with elderly
caregivers to initiate them in the planning for
future care of their loved ones.

MINDS’ Social Workers sharing about care planning during the
group session with caregivers.

DE PUTY SH IP APPL IC ATION
Since June 2017, the CSSC had been playing an
active role in the application process for Assisted
Deputyship Application Programme for caregivers
with children with intellectual disability. Currently,
13 caregivers are in the midst of the application
process. With support from the Board, CSSC will be
assisting caregivers of adult clients in their deputyship
application.

The deputyship application allows parents with adult
children with special needs to be appointed as the
deputy to make certain key decisions for them.

Deputyship application is a process that requires
careful balance between the needs of making the
process accessible and straightforward for caregivers
with the importance of capturing essential information
required by the Court to make the necessary decision
pertaining to the choice of the deputy. This ensures
the powers requested by deputy applicants are in
the best interests of the persons with intellectual
disability.
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S I B LI NG S O UTREAC H
P RO GRAMME
Young Siblings
Caregiving roles and duties not only encompass
parents, but also siblings as they are the next closest
kin to the child with special needs. Early preparation
and involvement of young siblings are essential, thus
MINDS social workers regularly organise bonding
activities and camps for young siblings to provide
opportunities to foster the relationship between
siblings as well as network with other fellow young
siblings.
In October 2017, a training workshop was
conducted for 15 young adult siblings to equip them
with skills and enable them to lead and reach out to
other siblings of the families. Nine of these young
adults were subsequently involved in the running
of a Sibling Camp in December, where 22 siblings
participated in it.

The siblings were all geared to have an exciting fun time at the
camp.

Adult Siblings
This year, much emphasis had been given to prepare the adult
siblings in the caregiving responsibilities as the parents are
getting on in years. A workshop on Care Planning for Adult
Siblings was organised in October 2017 to provide them
with information on future care need of their siblings with
special needs. These adult siblings were also invited to join
Groupwork, a sharing session to share about their concerns
and feelings, thus providing mutual support for one another.
Initiated in March 2017, the Groupwork sessions gradually
increased in numbers. These sessions enabled siblings to
get acquainted with each other, and form their own informal
support groups to provide support and exchange information
with one another.

Ms Chia Poh Hong, consultant of MINDS Caregivers’
Support, conducting the workshop on Care Planning
for adult siblings.

CSSC will continue to reach out to more siblings so as to
equip them with the relevent skills as they take charge as the
main caregiver.
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R E S EARCH S TUDIES
Last year, the CSSC was involved in two research studies to evaluate the impact
of the centre’s service on the well-being of the caregivers. The CSSC would also
like to take this opportunity to offer their sincere gratitude towards all caregivers
for their support and participation in the studies. The information obtained from
these two research studies will enable CSSC to identify gaps and improve in the
services for the caregivers.

MINDS-CDS Independent Research Study
In collaboration with the Centre for Disabilities Studies (CDS), University of
Sydney, the CSSC conducted an independent research study on the service impact
on quality of family life. Caregivers from 13 MINDS’ centres participated in the
study with more than 300 survey forms collected and analysed. The preliminary
report indicated very positive results of the CSSC’s services and programmes. For
the next financial year, caregivers will be randomly selected to provide feedback
on CSSC’s services and programmes.

SG Enable Project Evaluation Survey
More than 200 caregivers participated in SG Enable’s evaluation survey on the
impact of the projects on their charges. The second phase of the project survey will
be conducted in the next financial year when the grant ends.

FU TU R E
IN ITIATIVE
With support from MINDS Board and funding
from Ministry of Social & Family Development,
the CSSC will be working with MINDS schools
to set up a Special Students Care Centre in the
school to provide before and after school care
for students with special needs. The initiative
will be piloted at MINDS Woodlands Gardens
School in 2019.

Stay tuned: A Special Students Care Centre is set to open
in 2019.
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Appears on the exterior wall of MINDS Yishun Training &
Development Centre (YTDC), this mural art was singlehandedly
painted by Ms Ching Ching. The mural painting has been a
source of comfort for many clients at YTDC.
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STAKEHOLDERS’
ENGAGEMENT
“Only a life lived for others is worth living.”
– Albert Einstein
Stakeholders’ engagement and management are possibly the most
important element for successful volunteer, donor and member
management. It is often regarded as a key element in effective
corporate development and outreach. The Volunteer and Donor
Management Committee (VDMC) had reformed to Stakeholders’
Engagement Committee (SEC) to strategically oversee the development,
implementation, maintenance and control of the stakeholder
management framework, which encompasses the governance, policies,
contractual documentation, processes and controls on the management
of Stakeholders. This comprises volunteers, donors, sponsors, and
partners.
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COMMUNITY
OUTREACH EFFORTS
(AS AT 31 MARCH 2018)

Type of
Partner

No. of
Volunteering
Events

No. of Public
Education
Events

No. of
Fundraising
Initiatives

No. of Public
Education
Participants

No. of
Volunteers

Schools

14

8

-

553

294

Corporates

58

11

8

574

1546

Total

72

19

8

1127

1840

Last year, the Stakeholders’ Engagement team organised 72 volunteering activities and 19 public education events,
engaging 1,127 members of the public and 1,840 volunteers from schools and corporates.

KEY INITIATIVES
Appropriate Adult (AA) Service
Since MINDS’ appointment as the service provider for the
Appropriate Adult (AA) Service, significant work has been
undertaken to further develop the model. To date, MINDS has
successfully trained and screened close to 300 AA volunteers,
rendering its service to Singapore Police Force (SPF), Agri-Food
& Veterinary Authority of Singapore (AVA), and Central Narcotics
Bureau (CNB) to help facilitate communication during procedures.
MINDS also held its inaugural focus group session, which enabled
seasoned volunteers to offer an expert opinion on the model.
With insights gathered from the focus group, MINDS organised
its maiden AA Advanced Training Session to further equip
the volunteers with skills and knowledge to facilitate the
communication support for persons with intellectual disability,
autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and mental health issues. Partners
from SPF, AVA, CNB, and National Council for Social Service (NCSS)
formed the panel to update and provide answers to participants’
queries. In addition, Club Heal – an organisation that assists and
empowers persons with mental health issues, was also present to
share more information about mental health issues. The Advanced
AA training saw more than 40 seasoned volunteers attending the
session.
The success of the model led to the expansion of the service with
more partners coming on board. MINDS will continue to conduct
more workshops to engage the volunteers and ensure they are
adequately equipped to render their support to vulnerable adults.
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A volunteer attempts at illustrating a scene
based on a witness’ account. The activity enabled
the volunteers to understand the challenges
a person with special needs face when they
recount their tale during the investigation.

Befriending The Supreme Court, Family
Justice Court An d State Courts At KidZania
More than 150 MINDS students and clients were
given a different perspective of the various working
professions. The setup of KidZania, an indoor family
education and entertainment park, enabled many to
realise their hopes, dreams, and aspirations as they
tried out different careers, role-played as various
specialists and even accomplished the tasks assigned
to them. This treasured experience was brought
together by the Judiciary, comprising the Supreme
Court, Family Justice Court and State Courts, who
gave the participants a rare opportunity to experience
various occupations in a kid-sized city complete
with buildings, paveways, vehicles, and a functioning
economy.
Supportive of our movement, the Judiciary raised more
than S$30,000, which would go towards advancing the
development of persons with intellectual disability
(PWIDs).

Iryan Arish Bin Elddie from MINDS Fernvale Gardens
School role-playing as a firefighter together with his
classmates.

Creating History With Equinix
On 9 March 2018, clients from MINDS’ schools and
Employment Development Centres had the privilege
to participate in an exclusive workshop conducted
by Mr Gregory Burns, a renowned contemporary
painter, athlete, author, and motivational speaker
whose paintings were seen in several solo and group
exhibitions across at least sixteen countries.
With professional guidance and encouragement from
Mr Burns, clients, students, and volunteers learned to
visualise, humanise, and personalise their ideals and
transform them into an art. It was truly amazing to see
how the seemingly messy process eventually blended
together to form an amazing montage, just like how
the different personalities got together and worked
as one.

A MINDS client expressing himself on the canvas, with
guidance from Mr Burns.
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Art Exhibition Affirms MINDS Clients’
Artistic Talent
The Joy & Hope Charity Art Exhibition successfully
kicked off on 13 January 2018. It was the first
exhibition that provided MINDS’ clients the
opportunity to showcase their artwork and
capabilities, in which 16 pieces of artwork by
MINDS Craft artists were exhibited alongside
masterpieces by six renowned artists.
This exhibition gave clients a platform for
expression while illustrating how arts can be
inclusive.
Through the art exhibition, MINDS received S$28,000 or
60% of the proceeds, which would go to advancing the
development and well-being of PWIDs.

FESTIVAL PROGRAMME

MINDS VDAD & Film Festival 2017

THE IMPORTANCE OF TYING YOUR OWN SHOES

MINDS Film Festival returned for the second year, and this
time, the festival featured a collection of six films from five
countries. The films were curated to reach out to a wider group
of audience, with two Asian films featured to better relate to
the local community.

29 July (Sat), 11AM
Opening Day (By Invitation Only)

30 July (Sun), 7PM
Q&A with Director

TEMPLE GRANDIN

LIFE, ANIMATED

29 July (Sat)

29 July (Sat)

4.15PM

The film festival also coincided with MINDS’ Volunteer &
Donor Appreciation Day (VDAD), a biennial event to recognise
and show appreciation for the dedicated volunteers and
donors of MINDS. More than 150 donors and volunteers
received awards for their several contributions and exemplary
service towards persons with special needs.

7PM

Free Admission*
MY FERAL HEART
4 Aug (Fri)
7PM

ZHOU ZHOU 舟舟
5 Aug (Sat)
4.15PM

REDHA

The film festival attracted an overwhelming response from the
public with four out of six films screened to a full house. In
addition, the opening film, The Importance of Tying Your Own
Shoes, was screened for the second time in movie theatres
during the festival, also to a full house.

5 Aug (Sat)
7PM
Q&A with Filmmakers

TICKETING
$6: General Public
$5: Singapore Film Society Members
(only for tickets purchased at the box office with valid membership card)

*Admission to Temple Grandin is free.
Please refer to the film’s page for
more information.

VENUE

Golden Village VivoCity
1 Harbourfront Walk, #02-30, VivoCity
Singapore 098585
Tickets are available at all GV box offices
and online at www.gv.com.sg

The second edition of MINDS Film Festival
kicked off successfully with six films from five
countries, putting the spotlight on the trials
and tribulations of PWIDs.
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Opening MINDS & Hearts: Visit To Geylang East Home For The Aged
The “Opening MINDS & Hearts” initiative was launched in 2016 to galvanise students and adult clients to serve the
community and embrace the spirit of volunteerism as contributors. This year, the clients from MINDS Eunos Training
& Development Centre (ETDC) and staff from Standard Chartered Bank (SCB) volunteered at Geylang East Home for
the Aged (GEHA) where they brought much festive cheer ahead of Christmas.
This programme enabled MINDS’ students and clients to contribute in their own capacity. By bringing joy, hope, and
warm smiles, they greatly cheered the beneficiaries in GEHA. The teamwork was seamless, as SCB volunteers and
MINDS clients patiently guided the elderly to create snow globes and personalised Christmas greeting cards. At the
end of the session, everyone was beaming with pride with their own masterpieces! Everyone thoroughly enjoyed
themselves and gave great reviews of the opportunity.

Through assisted volunteering with able-bodied
volunteers from corporate companies and schools,
MINDS clients experienced the benefits of
volunteering.

Speaking Out: Life Of A Person With
Special Needs
Asian Film Archive Singapore launched Alt Screen, a series
of documentaries to promote empowerment and inclusivity
for persons with special needs. On 22 November 2017,
MINDS was invited as special guest to share with the
audience about MINDS and PWIDs. Nur Alfian Hakim Bin
Halim, who just graduated from MINDS Fernvale Gardens
School (FGS) had the honour of being the emcee for the
event and was given the opportunity to share about his
journey at FGS.
Besides sharing about the benefits of MINDS schools’
curriculum, he also spoke about his experience working
through the School-to-Work programme. With support from
his caregivers, it enabled him to be a more confident youth
and take on more responsibilities in life. This meaningful
event gave Hakim and his older sister the opportunity to
share about their sibling relationship. Ms Evelyn Leong,
Director of Corporate Development & Outreach and Mrs
Chan, Principal of FGS too, gave their insights on MINDS’
services that are in place to groom and nurture PWIDs.

Nur Alfian Hakim Bin Halim giving an introductory
speech at Alt Screen, an annual event that tackles
different social issues through the power of films.
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MINDS Supports Purple Parade 2017
The Purple Parade 2017 saw an amazing turnout from
MINDS as close to 200 of MINDS’ clients, caregivers,
and staff participated in the event. Not only did they
perform at the Purple Symphony, they were also involved
in five spectacular stage performances, two majestic
contingents and one sold-out stall, making this one of the
largest scale this annual event ever held.
Partnering Maybank Singapore and DBS Singapore,
MINDS formed two contingents as participants banded
together and marched proudly in the name of inclusion at
the Purple Parade 2017.
It was indeed a wonderful feeling for the students and
caregivers to be part of this significant movement as they
mingled happily with the crowd without any inhibitions.
This is the fourth year MINDS participated in the
Purple Parade to add our voice to the growing call on
inclusiveness.

The Community Cares About MINDS - Eye-Screening Services For Clients

As part of MINDS’ efforts to enable timely access to
appropriate and affordable healthcare that meets each
and every individual’s needs, MINDS had expanded the
current scope of healthcare services to include eye care.
Through a unique collaboration with Dr Stan Isaacs, an
ophthalmologist specialising in paediatric optometry
and contact lenses, Ngee Ann Polytechnic, and Essilor
Vision Foundation, the first eye screening for clients
from MINDS Napiri Training & Development Centre was
conducted.
The next eye screening is slated for FY2018/2019 for
MINDS’ Taiko Drummers. In addition, MINDS is looking
at expanding the eye screening programme beyond
MINDS’ clients to include caregivers.

We care for your wellness. The volunteer from
Ngee Ann Polytechnic conducting eye check for a
MINDS client.
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SUSS Breaking Boundaries With MINDS
In a collaboration with Singapore University of Social Sciences (SUSS), MINDS worked with Breaking
Boundaries, a service-learning group of passionate and fervent youths to address misconceptions and
stereotypes of persons with disabilities to their peers and the local community through awareness campaigns
and befriending sessions.
In one particular memorable befriending session, the students brought clients from MINDS Ang Mo Kio
Training & Development Centre (ATDC) for hiking at Bukit Batok Nature Park. Despite the arduous climb,
the clients managed to complete the hike with encouragement and cheers from the volunteers.
Breaking Boundaries had organised multiple befriending sessions with ATDC, MINDS Jurong Training &
Development Centre, and MINDS Eunos Training & Development Centre, contributing in their own capacity
in enabling inclusion for PWIDs. On top of this, they also lent their resources to several key events of MINDS,
such as the opening of MINDS Yishun Training & Development Centre.

Conquered the hike! The volunteers from SUSS together with
ATDC clients look refreshed despite the vigorous climb.
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MINDS MYG
MINDS MYG, a subsidiary voluntary wing of MINDS is comprised of 11 different projects situated across Singapore
to provide weekly training, social and recreational activities for beneficiaries. Through these activities, clients
are able to benefit from the social interactions and meaningful engagements, thus enabling them to participate
as fully as possible in society.

Sports Day 2018
Held at ITE College Central, MINDS MYG Sports Day
2018 saw clients from all MINDS MYG’s projects come
together to pit their skills against each other in a myriad of
sporting categories such as Football, Captain’s Ball, Bocce,
Badminton, and Track-and-Field events. The clients also
had the honour to meet football legend, Mr Fandi Ahmad
in person during the event.
Apart from the exciting games that kept clients on the edge
of their seats, there were also a wide range of creative and
fun games planned for them such as Floorball, Handball,
Arcade Basketball, Human Foosball, and Giant Bowling.
Clients who were not competing in the games too had fun
during the event as they revelled in these games with their
fellow friends and family members.

The professional Singapore Premier League
soccer players from Balestier Khalsa Football
Club came to show their support.

ACID Camp 2017
The Annual Camp for the Intellectually Disabled (ACID) is
one of the most anticipated events of the year as clients
and volunteers gathered for a whole uninterrupted
weekend of fun, laughter, and learning. This year, the ACID
Camp was held at National Junior College where clients
enjoyed a range of interesting games and activities such
as floral arrangements, Do-It-Yourself Water Rockets,
and driving pedal cars. As night fell, the lights and music
came on to the delight of everyone, as they grooved to the
camp’s dance songs and other all-time favourites.

The client was all smiles driving the pedal car
at the MYG ACID Camp.
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Adding his own creative flair to the painting.

MINDS MYG Turned 45
MINDS MYG turned 45 this year! Held in conjunction with MINDS MYG Family Day, the
celebration was held at ITE College Central where caregivers and clients embarked on a
trip down memory lane viewing old photos and artefacts while reminiscing the good old
past together. With clever ideas, the caregivers and clients built a traditional kampong.
On top of this, the participants also enjoyed several nostalgic games such as five stones,
and “Capteh” – a game that involves keeping a feathered shuttlecock in the air as long as
possible, hosted by student volunteers.
As MINDS MYG turns older, so do the beneficiaries. While beneficiaries move towards
their golden years, they also contend with a different set of challenges, such as agerelated health problems and mobility issues. In view of this, MINDS MYG is evolving itself
to better serve clients by addressing these issues through collaborations such as one with
healthcare professionals to conduct health screening.

Special Olympics 2018
After close to 10 months of practice in the various
sports, MINDS MYG’s clients took centre stage at the
Special Olympics National Games 2018 where both
the soccer and bocce teams won several awards. The
highlight of the day had to be witnessing one of the
bocce athletes being selected for the training squad
of 2019’s Special Olympics Winter Games.
Being an entirely volunteer-run programme, MINDS
MYG prides itself in ensuring the continuity of
recreational and social activities that maximises
clients’ potential. MINDS MYG will continue to
harness the expertise and experience of the volunteers
who were involved in the Special Olympics 2018 to
prepare clients for the Unified Games in 2018.
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It was a victorious day for many of the MINDS MYG’s
athletes as they walked away with several medals.
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HUMAN RESOURCE
MANAGEMENT

Job Mapping and Salary Benchmarking
In 2017, MINDS engaged Aon Hewitt, a provider of human capital and management consulting services, to conduct
a job mapping and salary benchmarking exercise to assess market competitiveness of MINDS’ remuneration against
relevant industries and jobs. Based on the results of the exercise, 82% of its employees are remunerated equitably
with salaries well within the competitive salary ranges. The remaining employees’ received the new salary adjusted
retroactive to April 2018 to remain competitive.
Moving forward, MINDS will ensure employees’ salaries remain competitive against the market by carrying out periodic
reviews on external salary benchmarking.
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Easy Access w ith new HR System
Since September 2017, MINDS employees had
been able to access their personal information such
as officially issued letters, and payslip via their
mobile app or on the new system, AGHRM. Moving
forward, the HR team will be progressively working
with AGHRM to develop more modules such as
Performance Management, Learning & Development,
and Budgeting & Attendance, to provide employees
the convenience of accessing all functions on one
single platform.

Collaboration with Willis Towers Watsons
Through collaboration with Willis Towers Watson,
a global advisory, broking and solutions company,
the HR team is revamping performance reviews and
streamlining them to align employees’ objectives closer
to MINDS’ organisational goals. By simplifying the
process of measuring staff performance, it helps reduce
administrative complexity for staff and supervisors.

Scholarship: Vimallan s/o Manokara
Vimallan s/o Manokara, currently the Senior Psychologist
and Applied Research with MINDS Institute of Intellectual
Disability and Development (MIIDD), was awarded the
MINDS Scholarship to pursue the Doctor of Philosophy
(Medicine) programme at the University of Sydney. As part
of his PhD Programme, Vimallan will be looking to develop a
Singapore model for successful open employment of persons
with disabilities as well as instrument that assesses the
sustainability, risk of fall-out and support needs of persons
with disabilities in open employment. This will help further
improve sustainability for our clients in open employment
and consequently raise their quality of life.

Congratulations! Vimallan would be pursuing Doctor
of Philosophy (Medicine) programme under MINDS’
scholarship.”

Recruitment
In August 2017, MINDS organised a job fair for
Training Officers where 38 candidates were
interviewed with 15 of them successfully employed by
MINDS. In March 2018, MINDS worked with Maximus
Asia, who was appointed by Workforce Singapore as
a Career Matching Provider to deliver employment
services. Eight out of 24 candidates were successfully
recruited by MINDS.

MINDS held its recruitment fair at the
e2i Job Fair, successfully recruiting 15
people.
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AN ORGANISATION
GOVERNED BY PASSION
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AN ORGANISATION
GOVERNED BY PASSION
Board and Sub-Committee members are volunteers offering their time, expertise,
and passion for the greater good.

A DIVERSIFIED LEADERSHIP
MINDS is led by a team of independent Board members boasting diversified leadership experiences
across various public and private sectors. All Board members were elected at the AGM on Saturday,
30 September 2017.

1) Mr Huang Cheng Eng,
Chairman
(Until 26 April 2018)

2) Captain Roger Loh,
Vice-Chairman
Member (2007 – 2011)
Co-opted Member (2011 – 2013)
Elected Member (2013 – 2017)

Co-opted Member (2013 – 2015)
Vice-President (2015 – 2017)

Instructor Pilot,
Singapore Airlines

Retired Executive Vice President,
Marketing and Overseas Regions,
Singapore Airlines

3) Ms Choo Shu Hui,
Vice-Chairperson

4) Mrs Doreen Yap,
Honorary Secretary

Executive Director,
UBS Wealth Management
Singapore

Co-opted Member (2009 – 2011)
Elected Member (2011 – 2013)
Assistant Honorary Secretary (2013 – 2015)
Honorary Secretary (2015 – 2017)
Retired Senior Manager, Pilot Recruitment,
Manpower Planning and Adminstration,
Singapore Airlines

5) Mr Daniel Tan,
Hon Asst. Secretary

6) Mr Ong Wee Gee,
Honorary Treasurer

Co-opted Member (2007 – 2009),
Elected Member (2009 – 2013)
Co-opted Member (2013 – 2017)

Co-opted Member (2008 – 2009),
Honorary Treasurer (2009 – 2013),
Elected Member (2013 – 2017)

Aviation Field Engineer,
ExxonMobil

Vice President, Finance,
Equinix Asia – Pacific

7) Mr Eugene Nai,
Hon Asst. Treasurer

8) Mr Manojit Sen,
Elected Member

Co-opted Member (2014 – 2017)

Co-opted Member (2008 – 2013)

Legal Counsel,
APL Logistics

Global Head of HR – LSC,
Shell
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9) Ms Tan Li San,
Elected Member

10) Mr Geoffrey Ong,
Elected Member

Elected Member (2015 – 2017)

Co-opted Member (2015 – 2017)

Deputy Secretary (Industry and
Information),
Ministry of Communications and
Information

Programme Manager
Risk & Controls and ITO
Standard Chartered Bank

11) Ms Quah Ley Hoon,
Elected Member

12) Dr Jaclyn Lee Mui Suan,
Elected Member

Chief Editor,
English Current Affairs
Mediacorp

Chief Human Resources Officer,
The Singapore University of
Technology and Design (SUTD)

13) Mdm Mimi Tan,
Elected Member

14) Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua,
Co-opted Member

Co-opted Member (2011 – 2017)

Honorary Treasurer (2013 – 2017)

Assistant General Manager,
NG Teow Yhee & Sons (S) Pte Ltd

Founder and Managing Partner,
Lau Lee Hua & Co

15) Prof Paul Cheung,
Co-opted Member

16) Mr Boo Chong Han,
Co-opted Member

Professor, Social Policy and
Analytics,
National University of Singapore

Co-opted Member (2008 – 2009)
Honorary Assistant Treasurer (2009 – 2011)
Elected Member (2011 – 2013)
Deputy Principal / CEO,
Republic Polytechnic

Patron

Dr Cheong Choong Kong

Advisors

Dr S Vasoo
Prof Tan Ser Kiat
Mrs Jaya Mohideen
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SUB-COMMITTEES

S c ho o l Man ag ement (S M) Commi tte e

Chairperson
Supervisor
Treasurer
Secretary
Sub-Committee Members

Capt Roger Loh
Capt Roger Loh
Mr Geoffrey Ong
Mrs Chan Kwai Foong
Prof Paul Cheung
Dr Mary George
Ms Sue-Ann Phay
Dr Bhavani Sriram

MOE Representative

Ms Terry Theseira
Mr Martin Koh Chin Tong

CEO
Principal, FGS
Principal, LGS
Principal, TGS

Mr Tony S Tan
Mrs Chan Kwai Foong
Ms Suzana Bte Soo
Ms Cindy Lim Siew Cheng
(until 14 December 2017)
Mr Lawrence Chong Kwai Kuen

Principal, WGS

S ocial En te r pri se & Empl oyment Deve l o p m e n t (S E E D) C o m m i t t e e
Chairperson
Vice-Chairperson
Secretary
Sub-Committee Members

Ms Choo Shu Hui
Ms Tan Li San
Mr Ng Mun Wai
Mr Wong Marn Chee
Mr Jackie Seah
Mr Hugo van Kattendijke

Re sid e n tial & Communi ty-Based Ca re S e rvi c e s (RC C S ) C o m m i t t e e
Chairperson
Chairperson
Secretary
Sub-Committee Members

Mr Daniel Tan
Mr Tan Moon Chong
Ms Jaslyn Quek
Mdm Mimi Tan
Dr Chen Shiling
Ms Linda Auyong
Mr Keh Eng Song

A ud it & R isk (ARC) Commi ttee
Chairperson
Secretary
Sub-Committee Members

Ms Jamie Lau
Mr Boey Khing How
Ms Siti Nuriyah Bte Abdul Manaf
Mr David Kwok
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F in an ce & Investment (FIC) Comm i t t e e
Chairperson
Vice-Chairperson
Secretary
Sub-Committee Members

Mr Geoffrey Ong
Mr Lee Shyong
Mrs Winnie Tee
Mr Hooi Mun Hon
Mr Ong Wee Gee
Mr Eugene Nai

Hu man R e source (HR) Commi ttee
Chairperson
Vice-Chairperson
Secretary
Sub-Committee Members

Dr Jaclyn Lee Mui Suan
Mr Manojit Sen
Mr Chen Ching Chion (until 15 Feb 2018)
Mr Mohan Dass
Mrs Doreen Yap
Mr Jason Soh

A llie d He al th Professi onal S ervi c e s (AH PS ) C o m m i t t e e
Chairperson
Secretary
Sub-Committee Members

Mr Manojit Sen
Dr Hoili Lim
Dr Chua Hong Choon
Mr Frederick Low
Mr J R Karthikeyen
Dr Wong Mei Yin

S take h o ld e rs’ Eng ag ement (S EC) C o m m i t t e e
Chairperson
Vice-Chairperson
Secretary
Sub-Committee Members

Mrs Doreen Yap
Ms Quah Ley Hoon
Ms Elaine Shen Jiayi
Mr Gerald Ng
Mdm Mimi Tan
Ms Wee Jie Yin
Mr Boo Chong Han

Car e give rs S upport (CS ) Commi tte e
Chairperson
Vice-Chairperson
Secretary
Sub-Committee Members

Mrs Doreen Yap
Ms Quah Ley Hoon
Ms Chia Poh Hong
Ms Nimisha Kesariuwani
Mr William Teo
Mr Keh Eng Song
Mr Eugene Nai
Ms Sherry Lim

No min atio n and Membershi p (NM C )
Chairperson
Sub-Committee Members

Ms Tan Li San
Capt Roger Loh
Mrs Doreen Yap
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A Committed Management Team

Standing from left to right:
Mr Lai Teck Chong, Dr Hoili Lim, Mrs Winnie Tee, Ms
Koh Gee May, Ms Chia Poh Hong, Ms Evelyn Leong,
Mr Billy Tan
From left to right: Mr Lawrence Chong, Mrs Chan Kwai
Foong, Ms Suzana Bte Soo, Mr Matthew Ou

Chief Executive Officer

Mr Tony S Tan
(Appointed on 22 May 2017 until 30 April 2018)
Dr Jeffrey Chan

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Director, Residential
Care Services

&

Community-Based

Ms Koh Gee May

Director, Allied Health Professional Services

Dr Hoili Lim

Director, Social Enterprise & Employment
Development

Jeff Kwan Wan Chew

Director, Corporate Development & Outreach

Ms Evelyn Leong Su Ling

Director, Finance

Mrs Winnie Tee

Director, Human Resource and Admin

Mr Billy Tan
(Appointed on 19 February 2018)
Mr Lai Teck Chong
(Appointed on 19 March 2018)
Ms Chia Poh Hong

Director, Information Technology
Consultant, Caregivers Support Services
Deputy Director, Residential &
Community-Based Care Services

Mr Bryan Lim Chong Chee

Principal, MINDS Fernvale Gardens School

Mrs Chan Kwai Foong

Principal, MINDS Lee Kong Chian Gardens
School

Ms Suzana Bte Soo
Mr Lawrence Chong

Principal, MINDS Woodlands Gardens School

Mr Matthew Ou

Principal, MINDS Towner Gardens School

(Appointed on 15 December 2017)

*No staff sits on the Board; Senior Management attends Board meetings as ex-officio.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Introduction
MINDS is led by a team of independent Board members who are elected or co-opted volunteers. The Board is headed by
the Board Chairman and consists of members possessing diversified leadership experiences across various public and
private sectors. No staff sits on the Board; Senior Management attends Board meetings as ex-officio. Before the Annual
General Meeting (AGM) in September 2017, the Executive Committee (Exco) met monthly (except for September 2017).
After the AGM, the Board met on alternate odd months since October 2017 to keep itself abreast of MINDS’ activities,
development and to approve projects.
The authorities, duties and responsibilities of Board are guided by MINDS Constitution. MINDS also has an induction and
training policy for new Board members in which the members will be issued with a Board kit and given a briefing by senior
management on MINDS’ mission, vision, strategy and operation.
The Board is supported by 12 sub-committees overseeing key areas within MINDS, which are guided by their respective
terms of reference approved by the Board:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)
vi)
vii)
viii)
ix)
x)
xi)
xii)

School Management Committee (SMC)
Social Enterprise & Employment Development Committee (SEED)
Residential & Community-Based Care Services Committee (RCCS)
Finance & Investment Committee (FIC)
Human Resource Committee (HRC)
Remuneration Committee (RC)
Allied Health Professional Services Committee (AHPS)
Stakeholders’ Engagement Committee (SEC)
MINDS Institute for IDD Committee (MIIDD)
Caregivers Support Committee (CSC)
Audit & Risk Committee (ARC)
Nomination & Membership Committee (NMC)

Board and Sub-Committee members are not paid any remuneration or fee for their services.
Board Member

Designation for Term
2017-2019

No. of
Meetings

Meetings
Attended

Mr Huang Cheng Eng

Chairman

9

7

Captain Roger Loh

Vice-Chairman

9

8

Ms Choo Shu Hui

Vice-Chairperson

4

3

Mrs Doreen Yap

Honorary Secretary

9

7

Mr Daniel Tan

Honorary Assistant Secretary

9

6

Mr Ong Wee Gee

Honorary Treasurer

9

5

Mr Eugene Nai

Honorary Assistant Treasurer

9

7

Mr Manojit Sen

Elected Member

9

4

Ms Tan Li San

Elected Member

9

6

Mr Geoffrey Ong

Elected Member

9

8

Ms Quah Ley Hoon

Elected Member

4

4

Dr Jaclyn Lee Mui Suan

Elected Member

4

4

Mdm Mimi Tan

Elected Member

9

7

Ms Jamie Lau Lee Hua

Co-opted Member

9

4

Prof Paul Cheung

Co-opted Member

4

1

Mr Boo Chong Han

Co-opted Member

4

4
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Accountability And Audit
Management provides Board with treasury reports on a monthly basis to enable the Board to make a
balanced and informed assessment of MINDS’ performance, position and prospects.
Board is responsible for the appointment of external auditor at MINDS’ AGM. ARC works closely with the
FIC to supervise the annual statutory audit of MINDS and assesses the external auditors based on quality
of audit performed and their independence. Recommendation would then be made to Board to appoint the
external auditors.
The ARC oversees operational risk management, internal controls and the results of internal audit (IA) work
on behalf of the Board. The IA workplan is approved annually by ARC. The workplan is formulated using
a risk-based approach. The IA department and Risk Management function work closely with Management
in its internal consulting and advisory role to promote effective risk management, internal controls and
governance best practices. ARC held private discussions with IA department and external auditors without
the presence of the management to discuss any sensitive issues arising from their work at least once a year.

Whistle Blowing Policy
MINDS has a whistle blowing policy for internal staff and external stakeholders to highlight their concerns
in relation to all forms of unlawful conduct, financial malpractice, danger to the public, etc. Whistle blowing
reports are channelled to CEO with the Audit & Risk Committee Chairman in copy. If the report involves
CEO, it will be channelled to Honorary Secretary. The email address and contact number is made available
in MINDS corporate website. All whistle blowing reports will be treated with strictest confidentiality,
promptly investigated and reported to Board.

Conflict Of Interest
The Board adopted the policy of declaration by the Board members and senior management staff of any
personal interests that may affect the integrity, fairness and accountability to MINDS. When a situation arises
where there is a conflict of interest, the member or staff shall abstain from participating in the discussion,
decision making and voting on the matter. Board, sub-committee members and Senior Management signed
a declaration to acknowledge the conflict of interest policy. A conflict of interest clause is also included in
each staff’s employment terms and conditions.

Transparency
MINDS uploads its Governance Evaluation Checklist from the Code of Governance for Charities and
Institutions of a Public Character, a yearly summary of its financial information and copies of annual reports
in the Charity Portal and on MINDS’ website for access by the public. In addition to disclosing whether
MINDS has complied with each requirement under the check list, MINDS has further elaborated on how it
has complied.

Remuneration Policies
All members of the Board are volunteers and do not receive any remuneration during the year. To avoid
potential conflict of interest when determining the remunerations of key management staff within MINDS,
there is a formal and transparent procedure for determining key management personnel’s remuneration. No
key management personnel is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration. All members of the RC are
non-executive directors.

Other Practices
MINDS does not provide any loan to staff or external party. It also does not make any cash donations to
external party.
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GOVERNANCE EVALUATION
CHECKLIST FOR ADVANCED TIER
Applicable To Large Ipcs With Gross Annual Receipts Of
$10 Million Or More
This submission is for the financial year 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.

S/N

Code Description

Code ID

Compliance

Please provide explanation
if your charity is unable
to comply with the
Code guidelines, or if
the guidelines are nonapplicable.

1.1.2

Yes

New Board members are briefed
by Senior Management when
they joined MINDS. The members
will be given a Board kit, which
covers detailed information on
the organization and governance
related materials.

No

No Board member holds staff
appointment.

Board Governance
1

Induction and orientation are
provided to incoming Board
members.

Are there Board members
holding staff appointments?
(Skip items 2 and 3 if “No”)
4

There is a maximum limit
of four consecutive years
for the Treasurer position
(or equivalent, e.g. Finance
Committee
Chairman
or
person on Board responsible
for overseeing the finances
of the charity).
Should the charity not
have an appointed Board
member, it will be taken that
the Chairman oversees the
finances.

1.1.7

Compiled

MINDS Constitution states that
the term limit for Treasurer is up
to a maximum of four consecutive
years.

5

All
Board
members
submit
themselves
for
re-nomination
and
reappointment, at least once
every three years.

1.1.8

Compiled

Board members are appointed for
a term of 2 years. An election will
be held every 2 years during AGM
to elect Board members.
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6

The
Board
conducts
regular self-evaluation to
assess its performance and
effectiveness once per term or
every three years, whichever
is shorter.

1.1.12

Are there Board member(s)
who have served for more
than 10 consecutive years?
(Skip item 7 if “No”)

Compiled

The last self-evaluation was held
in 2016. The next self-evaluation is
planned in late 2018.

Yes

Captain Roger, Mr Ong Wee Gee,
Mr Daniel Tan and Mr Manojit Sen
have served consecutive 10 years
and were Co-opted members in
between the 10 years’ service.

7

The charity discloses in its
annual report the reasons for
retaining Board member(s)
who have served for more
than 10 consecutive years.

1.1.13

Yes

8

There
are
documented
terms of reference for the
Board and each of its Board
committees.

1.2.1

Compiled

The Board is empowered and
guided under MINDS Constitution.
MINDS has 12 sub-committees,
each with its Terms of Reference
approved by the Board.

Conflict of Interest
9

There
are
documented
procedures
for
Board
members and staff to declare
actual or potential conflicts
of interest to the Board at
the earliest opportunity.

Compiled

2.1

Board
members
and
senior
management staff are required
to declare potential conflicts of
interest annually in the Conflict of
Interest Declaration Form. They
shall abstain from participating
in the discussion, decision making
and voting on the matter.
Other staff are required to
declare conflict of interest when
the situation arises, as required
in their terms and conditions of
employment.

10

Board members do not vote
or participate in decisionmaking on matters where
they have a conflict of
interest.

Compiled

2.4

All Board members are prohibited
from any business dealings and
contracts with MINDS.
A Board member with a declared
conflict of interest is not allowed
to vote or participate in decision
making on the matter.

81

Strategic Planning
11

12

The
Board
periodically
reviews and approves the
strategic plan for the charity
to ensure that the activities
are in line with its objectives.

3.2.2

There is a documented plan
to develop the capacity and
capability of the charity
and the Board monitors the
progress of this plan.

3.2.4

Complied

Strategic
directions/plan
proposed by management
endorsed by the Board.

are
and

The Board reviews the progress
through Management Reports
during the Board meetings.

Compiled

The 5 years strategic plan included
putting in place a support system
with ICT strategy, infrastructure
and business analytics, growing
service
capability,
talent
management and improves Finance
& HR systems.
The KPIs are included in the Board
papers to update Board and in
funding bodies’ reports.

Human Resource and Volunteer Management
13

The
Board
approves
documented human resource
policies for staff.

Compiled

5.1

HR policies for staff are proposed
by management, reviewed and
endorsed by the HR Committee
and approved by the Board.
Once approved, briefings are
conducted for all Heads of
Department before effecting the
policies.

14

There is a documented
Code
of
Conduct
for
Board
members,
staff
and
volunteers
(where
applicable) which is approved
by the Board.

Compiled

5.3

An
Expectation
of
Conduct
is incorporated as part of the
employment T&C for staff.
A Code of Conduct for Board
members is included in the
Board Kit.
The
Volunteer
registration
form and Volunteer Orientation
Program
Handbook
include
requirements on behavior, conduct
and “Do’s and Don’ts”.

15

There
are
processes
for
regular
supervision,
appraisal and professional
development of staff.

Compiled

5.5

Annual appraisal and training road
maps and plans are in place for all
staff.
Open appraisals are carried out at
the end of each year where staff
performance will be discussed
and graded. Each staff also has a
budget of 40 training hours per
year. MINDS encourages its staff to
attend both inhouse and external
training. It utilizes an e-system to
track staff training hours.

Are
there
volunteers2
serving in the charity? (Skip
item 16 if “No”)

Yes
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16

There
are
volunteer
management policies in place
for volunteers.

Compiled

5.7

Volunteers are guided by MINDS’
Volunteer Program Guidelines
and the Volunteer Orientation
Program Handbook that will be
further adapted from the NCSS
volunteer manage toolkit.

Financial Management and Internal Controls
17

There is a documented policy
to seek Board’s approval
for any loans, donations,
grants or financial assistance
provided by the charity
which are not part of its core
charitable programmes.

6.1.1

Compiled

MINDS does not provide loans,
donations, grants or financial
assistance which are not part of its
core charitable programmes.

18

The Board ensures internal
controls for financial matters
in key areas are in place with
documented procedures.

6.1.2

Compiled

Documented
policies
and
procedures such as authorization
limits, procurement, payment,
etc, are endorsed by the Finance
and Investment Committee and
approved by the Board.
Once approved, briefings are
conducted for all Heads of
Department
before
effecting
the policies.
The policies and
procedures are also uploaded into
MINDS Intranet for reference by
staff.

19

The Board ensures reviews
on the charity’s internal
controls,
processes,
key
programmes and events are
regularly conducted.

Compiled

6.1.3

The reviews are carried out by
the various sub-committees of
the Board, such as the Sector
Committees,
Finance
and
Investment
Committee,
HR
Committee, and reported to the
Board.
In addition, the Audit & Risk
Committee maintains independent
oversight on the adequacy and
effectiveness of controls through
the internal audits.

20

The Board ensures that
there is a process to identify,
regularly monitor and review
the charity’s key risks.

6.1.4

Compiled

The Audit & Risk Committee
oversees key risks through the
Risk
Management
function.
During the year, the risk universe
was identified and the risks were
assessed.

21

The Board approves an
annual budget for the
charity’s plans and regularly
monitors its expenditure.

6.2.1

Complied

The Sector Committees are
responsible
for
reviewing,
endorsing and monitoring the
annual
budget.
The
annual
budget is then further reviewed
by the Finance and Investment
Committee and approved by the
Board.
Quarterly budget reviews are
conducted for both the schools and
the adult sector.
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Does the charity invest its
reserves, including fixed
deposits? (Skip item 22 if
“No”)
22

The charity has a documented
investment policy approved
by the Board.

Yes

Compiled

6.4.3

MINDS
has
a
Investment policy.

documented

Reserves are invested in bonds and
FDs according to Board-approved
Investment Policy. A quorum of
3 out of 5 members of FIC will
approve investments in permitted
types of S$ denominated assets,
including S’pore Govt securities,
S’pore Govt related entities bonds,
and approved corporate bonds in
S’pore. FDs are allowed only for
Qualifying Full Banks licensed
by MAS.
It also limits funds
concentration in single issuer/
corporate and the % of bonds
purchased.

Fundraising Practices
Did the charity receive
cash donations (solicited or
unsolicited) during the year?
(Skip item 23 if “No”)
23

All
collections
received
(solicited or unsolicited) are
properly accounted for and
promptly deposited by the
charity.

Yes

Compiled

7.2.2

Did the charity receive
donations-in-kind during the
year? (Skip item 24 if “No”)
24

All
donations-in-kind
received
are
properly
recorded and accounted for
by the charity.

All donations are acknowledged
with a Thank You letter, together
with a receipt.
In addition,
donations received are recorded
and tracked under their respective
purposes.
Donations
are
periodically reported to the Board
during Board meetings.

Yes

7.2.3

Compiled

All donations-in-kind are recorded
in
donations-in-kind
form,
including purpose and approval of
distributions.

8.2

Compiled

Number of Board meetings and
Board member’s attendance are
disclosed in the annual report.

Disclosure and Transparency
25

The charity discloses in its
annual report:
i) Number of Board meetings
in the year; and
ii) Individual Board member’s
attendance.
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28

Are
Board
members
remunerated for their Board
services? (Skip items 26 and
27 if “No”)

No

Does the charity employ paid
staff? (Skip items 28, 29 and
30 if “No”)

Yes

MINDS employs paid staff.

Compiled

MINDS follows very closely the
salary scales provided by NCSS.
Where deviations are necessary,
they are reviewed by the HR
Committee and endorsed by the
Board.

No staff is involved in setting
his or her own remuneration.

2.2

Salaries of the CEO and Senior
Management are reviewed and
approved by MINDS Chairman
with key Board members.
29

30

Compiled

The annual remuneration of the
three highest paid staff is disclosed
in MINDS’ Annual Report in bands
of $50,000.

The charity discloses in its
annual report:
i)
The
total
annual
remuneration (including any
remuneration received in its
subsidiaries), for each of its
three highest paid staff, who
each receives remuneration
exceeding
$100,000,
in
bands of $100,000; and
ii) If any of the three highest
paid staff also serves on the
Board of the charity.

8.4

The charity discloses the
number of paid staff who
are close members of the
family of the Executive Head
or Board Members, who
each receives remuneration
exceeding $50,000 during the
year, in bands of $100,000.
OR
The charity discloses that
there is no paid staff who
are close members of the
family of
the
Executive
Head or Board Member, who
receives more than $50,000
during the year.

8.5

Compiled

There is no paid staff who are
close members of the family
of the Executive Head or Board
Member, who receives more than
$50,000 during the year.

9.2

Compiled

MINDS has documented policies on
Social Media and Public Relation &
Communication.

None of the staff serves on the
Board of MINDS.

Public Image
31

The charity has a documented
communication policy on the
release of information about
the charity and its activities
across all media platforms.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
In the Financial Year 2017/18, MINDS ended positively with a surplus of $3.9M, a slight drop of $0.2M
from the previous year. The total income of $56.6M was higher than last financial year by $4.5M, largely
from government funding provided for the various new initiatives like setting up of new Training &
Development Centres in Clementi and Yishun.
Correspondingly, the total expenditure of $52.7M was also higher than last financial year by $4.7M to
provide quality programmes and services to our clients.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore
Statement by the Board Members

The Board Members (the “Board”) and Conduct of its Affairs
The Board oversees and directs the overall management of Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of
Singapore (“MINDS”), approves its board policies and strategies and governs its financial affairs. It conducts
regular scheduled meetings. Ad hoc meetings are also convened when circumstances require. Ten (10)
meetings were held in the financial year 2017/2018.
Specialised Committees provide support to the Board. The Members of these committees are appointed by
the Board itself. The Finance and Investment Committee provides support in governing the financial affairs
of MINDS.

Accountability and Audit
The Audit Risk Committee oversees internal controls and the results of internal audit work.
The Board has adopted the policy of declaration by the Board Members and senior management staff of any
personal interests that may affect the integrity, fairness and accountability to MINDS.

Opinion
The Board is of the view that MINDS currently has adequate internal controls to authorise and approve
transactions and to safeguard its assets and investments. It is satisfied with the organisation’s compliance
with the relevant Code of Governance and the financial disclosure requirements.
In its opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the
state of affairs of MINDS as at 31 March 2018 in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards and the results of its operations, changes in funds and cash flows for the financial year
then ended.

On behalf of the Board Members:

Mr Loh Chin Chan
Chairman

Mr Ong Wee Gee
Honorary Treasurer
Singapore
30 July 2018
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore
Independent auditor’s report
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018
Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Report on the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore (the “Charity”)
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018 and the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions
of the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the “Act”), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (the
“Charities Act and Regulations”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Charity as at 31 March 2018 and of the financial
performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Charity for the year ended on that date.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Charity in accordance with the Accounting and
Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and
Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other information
Management is responsible for other information. The other information at the date of this audit report is the
Statement by the Board Members, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore
Independent auditor’s report
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
The Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and FRSs, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Charity’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Charity or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Charity’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Charity’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Charity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Charity to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore
Independent auditor’s report
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont’d)
•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In our opinion:
(a) the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Charity have been properly kept in accordance
with the provisions of the Societies Regulations enacted under the Societies Act, the Charities Act and
Regulations; and
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the year:
(a) the Charity has not used the donation monies in accordance with its objectives as required under
Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and
(b) the Charity has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of
a Public Character) Regulations.
The Charity did not hold any public fund raising appeals during the year.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
30 July 2018
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Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore
Statement of comprehensive income
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018
Note

Unrestricted Funds

Restricted Funds

Total

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

$

$

$

$

$

$

1,640,286

1,046,251

644,642

587,435

2,284,928

1,633,686

–

22,946

22,110

31,739

22,110

54,685

246,128

355,382

–

−

246,128

355,382

435,854

462,672

23,528

26,951

459,382

489,623

–

−

1,127,668

1,058,941

1,127,668

1,058,941

–

7,353

2,863,182

2,643,583

2,863,182

2,650,936

2,322,268

1,894,604

4,681,130

4,348,649

7,003,398

6,243,253

–

–

(3,263,962)

(2,094,834)

(3,263,962)

(2,094,834)

Income
Income from donations
Miscellaneous income
Interest income from
bonds
Interest income from
bank and fixed
deposits
Programme income

5

Contract work and
other income

Total income

Expenditure
Direct cost incurred for
contract work
Depreciation

7

Minor works, repairs
and maintenance of
property, plant and
equipment
Other operating
expenses
Employee benefits
expenses

6

Programme costs
Amortisation of bonds
premium

8

Total expenditure

Operating surplus/
(deficit) before
government grant

(18,232)

(231,357)

(2,977,658)

(4,203,618)

(2,995,890)

(4,434,975)

(5,064)

(19,836)

(4,651,159)

(4,353,341)

(4,656,223)

(4,373,177)

(268,362)

(296,161)

(1,960,931)

(1,619,494)

(2,229,293)

(1,915,655)

(1,162,303)

(710,834)

(37,047,075)

(33,595,295)

(38,209,378)

(34,306,129)

(19,423)

(32,086)

(3,842,469)

(3,426,313)

(3,861,892)

(3,458,399)

(38,542)

(117,016)

(38,542)

(117,016)

(1,511,926)

(1,407,290)

810,342

487,314

–

–

(53,743,254)

(49,292,895)

(55,255,180)

(50,700,185)

(49,062,124)

(44,944,246)

(48,251,782)

(44,456,932)

Grants
Grant income

5

−

−

49,614,177

45,838,663

49,614,177

45,838,663

Amortisation of
deferred capital
grants

13

−

−

2,537,537

2,719,861

2,537,537

2,719,861

3,089,590

3,614,278

3,899,932

4,101,592

Surplus for the year,
representing total
comprehensive
income for the year

810,342

487,314

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note

2018

2017

$

$

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

32,603,955

34,554,956

Held-to-maturity investments

8

6,038,824

6,564,649

Fixed deposits

10

–

7,370,445

38,642,779

48,490,050

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Held-to-maturity investments

8

–

4,012,717

Trade and other receivables

9

3,772,555

3,969,198

349,184

335,155

Prepayments
Pledged deposits

10

685,696

935,954

Fixed deposits

10

41,187,407

26,850,816

Cash and cash equivalents

10

16,932,755

15,408,459

62,927,597

51,512,299

101,570,376

100,002,349

Total current assets
Total assets
FUNDS AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

11

4,365,786

4,559,813

Obligation under finance lease

12

970

1,260

4,366,756

4,561,073

58,560,841

46,951,226

Total current liabilities
Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Deferred capital grants

13

31,743,867

33,880,595

Obligation under finance lease

12

–

860

Total non-current liabilities

31,743,867

33,881,455

Total liabilities

36,110,623

38,442,528

Net assets

65,459,753

61,559,821

Funds
Unrestricted funds

14

18,080,605

16,249,083

Programmes restricted funds

14

15,612,762

12,601,815

Other restricted funds

14

12,975,848

15,361,358

Schools’ restricted funds

14

18,164,305

16,620,968

Building maintenance fund

14

626,233

726,597

Total restricted funds

14

47,379,148

45,310,738

Total funds

14

Total funds and liabilities

65,459,753

61,559,821

101,570,376

100,002,349

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Unrestricted
Funds
(Note 14)

Restricted
Funds
(Note 14)

Total

$

$

$

15,278,770

42,179,459

57,458,229

Surplus for the year, representing total
comprehensive income for the year

487,314

3,614,278

4,101,592

Transfer between funds

482,999

At 1 April 2016

(482,999)

–

At 31 March 2017

16,249,083

45,310,738

61,559,821

At 1 April 2017

16,249,083

45,310,738

61,559,821

3,089,590

3,899,932

Surplus for the year, representing total
comprehensive income for the year
Transfer between funds
At 31 March 2018

810,342
1,021,180

(1,021,180)

18,080,605

47,379,148

–
65,459,753

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note

2018

2017

$

$

Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus for the year

3,899,932

4,101,592

Adjustments for:
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment

7

2,995,890

4,434,975

Amortisation of deferred capital grants

13

(2,537,537)

(2,719,861)

Deferred capital grant written off

13

(1,965)

(19,302)

Amortisation of bonds premium

8

38,542

117,016

Operating grant income

(49,614,177)

(45,838,663)

Interest income from bonds

(246,128)

(355,382)

Interest income from bank and fixed deposits

(459,382)

(489,623)

Provision for doubtful debt
Property, plant and equipment written off
Operating cash flows before working capital changes

120,113

–

3,879

92,222

(45,800,833)

(40,677,026)

Decrease in trade and other receivables

285,552

535,780

Increase in prepayments

(14,029)

(55,272)

(143,579)

(675,515)

(45,672,889)

(40,872,033)

(1,048,768)

(772,626)

Decrease in trade and other payables
Cash used in operations, representing net cash
used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

7

Interest income from bonds

246,128

Interest income from bank and fixed deposits
Redemption of held-to-maturity investments

8

Increase in fixed deposits
Uplift/(placement) of pledged deposits

459,382

489,623

4,500,000

3,250,000

(6,966,146)

(4,638,427)

250,258

Net cash used in investing activities

355,382

(144,290)

(2,559,146)

(1,460,338)

(1,150)

(1,151)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of obligations under finance leases
Deferred capital grants received

13

402,774

270,693

Operating grants received

49,354,707

44,539,464

Net cash generated from financing activities

49,756,331

44,809,006

1,524,296

2,476,635

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
financial year

10

15,408,459

12,931,824

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

10

16,932,755

15,408,459

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018

1.

Corporate Information
The Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore (“MINDS”) is registered and domiciled in
Singapore under the Societies Act, Cap 311. The principal place of activities of MINDS headquarters
is located at 800 Margaret Drive, Singapore 149310.
The principal activities of MINDS is to operate Special Education Schools, Employment Development
Centres, Training & Development Centres and Residential Services in order to maximise the
development, well-being and aspirations of persons with intellectual disability. These financial
statements represent the financial statements of MINDS headquarters, the Special Education Schools
(“Schools”), Employment Development Centres (“EDCs”), Training & Development Centres (“TDCs”)
and Residential Services, administered by MINDS. The various programmes are:
Schools
Fernvale Gardens School
Lee Kong Chian Gardens School
Towner Gardens School
Woodlands Gardens School
EDCs
IDEA Employment Development Centre
SIA – MINDS Employment Development Centre
Woodlands Employment Development Centre
TDCs
Ang Mo Kio Training & Development Centre
Clementi Training & Development Centre
EunosTraining & Development Centre
Faber Training & Development Centre
Jurong Training & Development Centre
Napiri Training & Development Centre
Tampines Training & Development Centre
Yishun Training & Development Centre
Residential Services
MINDSVille@Napiri – Home
MINDSVille@Napiri – Hostel
MINDSVille@Napiri – Children’s Wing
Others
Job Placement and Job Support Service
Community Group Home
Community Model
Caregivers Support Services Centre
MINDS MYG
Home Based Care Services
Me Too! Club
MINDS Institute of Intellectual and Development Disabilities
MINDS Developmental Disabilities Medical Clinic
MINDS is registered as a charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and is also approved as an
Institution of a Public Character (“IPC”). The IPC status will expire on 30 September 2019.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards (“FRS”).
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the
accounting policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars.

2.2

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in
the current financial year, MINDS has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective
for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 April 2017, including the Amendments to FRS
7 Disclosure Initiative. The adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the financial
performance or position of the MINDS.

2.3

Standards issued but not yet effective
MINDS has not adopted the following standards applicable that have been issued but not yet effective:
Effective for annual
periods beginning on
or after

Description
Amendments to FRS 7: Disclosure Initiative

1 January 2017

FRS 115: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018

FRS 109: Financial Instruments

1 January 2018

FRS 116 Leases

1 January 2019

Amendments to FRS 104 Applying FRS 109 Financial Instruments
with FRS 104 Insurance Contracts

1 January 2018

Except for FRS 115, FRS 109 and FRS 116, the Board expects that the adoption of the other standards
above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. The
nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 115, FRS 109 and FRS 116
are described below.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3

Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)
FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
FRS 115 establishes a five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers.
Under FRS 115, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration which an entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in FRS 115 provide
a more structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue when the promised goods and services
are transferred to the customer i.e. when performance obligations are satisfied.
Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2018 with early adoption permitted. MINDS is currently assessing the impact of FRS 115 and plans to adopt
the new standard on the required effective date.
FRS 109 Financial Instruments
FRS 109 introduces new requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets, impairment of
financial assets and hedge accounting, and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2018.
Financial assets are classified according to their contractual cash flow characteristics and the business
model under which they are held. The impairment requirements in FRS 109 are based on an expected credit
loss model and replace the FRS 39 incurred loss model.
MINDS plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date without restating prior periods’
information and recognises any difference between the previous carrying amount and the carrying amount at
the beginning of the annual reporting period at the date of initial application in the opening retained earnings.
MINDS has performed a preliminary impact assessment of adopting FRS 109 based on currently available
information. This assessment may be subject to changes arising from ongoing analysis, until MINDS adopts
FRS 109 in 2019.

FRS 116 Leases
FRS 116 requires lessees to recognise most leases on balance sheets to reflect the rights to use the leased
assets and the associated obligations for lease payments as well as the corresponding interest expense
and depreciation charges. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ‘low
value’ assets and short-term leases. The new leases standard is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2019.
MINDS has performed a preliminary impact assessment of the adoption of FRS 116 and expects that the
adoption of FRS 116 will result in increase in total assets and total liabilities, EBITDA and gearing ratio.
MINDS plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date by applying FRS 116 retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
as at 1 April 2019.
MINDS is currently in the process of analysing the transitional approaches and practical expedients to be
elected on transition to FRS 116 and assessing the possible impact of adoption.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4

Foreign currency
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also MINDS functional currency.
Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency of MINDS and are recorded
on initial recognition in the functional currency at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translation monetary items at
the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

2.5

Property, plant and equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition,
property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Property, plant and equipment which cost less than $500 individually
are charged to profit or loss in the year of purchase.
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Buildings

-

30 years

Furniture and fittings

-

5 years

Office equipment

-

3 years

Kitchen equipment

-

3 years

Outdoor equipment

-

3 years

Audio-visual equipment

-

3 years

Musical equipment

-

3 years

Motor vehicles

-

5 years

Leasehold improvement

-

5 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset
is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.6

Impairment of non-financial assets
MINDS assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Board
makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.
Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are
previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case,
the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous
revaluation.
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If
that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the
asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.7

Financial instruments
(a) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, MINDS becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument. MINDS determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case
of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
(i) Loans and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables
are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7

Financial instruments (cont’d)
(a) Financial assets (cont’d)
(ii) Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are
classified as held-to-maturity when MINDS has the positive intention and ability to hold the
investment to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the held-to-maturity investments are derecognised
or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
De-recognition
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset
has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
(b) Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, MINDS becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument. MINDS determines the classification of its financial liabilities
at initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not
at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation
process.
De-recognition
A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition
of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.8

Impairment of financial assets
MINDS assesses at each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset is impaired.
Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Board first assesses objective evidence of impairment
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Board determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance
account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has
been incurred, the Board considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial
difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

2.9

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when MINDS has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the
obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
a finance cost.

2.11

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
MINDS makes contribution to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution
pension scheme. The contributions are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
service is performed.

2.12

Leases
Finance leases which transfer to MINDS substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or,
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to
the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction
of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged to profit or loss.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.13

Income
Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to MINDS
and the income can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Income is
measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually
defined terms of payment.
(a) Donations
Donations of cash or assets are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as and
when MINDS obtains control of the donation or the right to receive the donation; it is probable
that the economic benefits comprising the donation will flow to MINDS; and the amount of the
donation can be measured reliably.
Donations in kind such as second-hand goods donated for resale are recorded in the statement
of comprehensive income in the period in which the goods donated are sold.
Subventions and grants from government organisations and other bodies are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income only when there is reasonable assurance that MINDS has
complied with the conditions of the grants. Such grants are recognised at fair value. Operating
grants are calculated based on funding principles of the relevant government organisations.
Subsequent adjustments to operating grants are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income in the year in which they are finalised by the relevant government organisations.
Grants received but not utilised which are repayable are included under liabilities in the statement
of financial position.
Grant income is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for government grants
as detailed in Note 2.14 below.
(b) Rendering of services
Income from providing services such as contract work income, programme fees and other income
is recognised when the services are rendered.
(c) Interest income and investment income
Interest income on bank accounts, fixed deposits placed with banks and bonds are recognised
with reference to the principal outstanding and the rate applicable using the effective interest
method.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.14

Government grant income
Grant income are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is amortised to profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
Deferred capital grants are recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match the
depreciation of the assets with the related grants. On disposal of plant and equipment, the balance of
related grants is recognised in profit or loss to match the carrying amounts of the plant and equipment
disposed.
Operating grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the
cost for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants that
are receivables as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to MINDS with no future related cost are recognised in income or
expenditure in the period in which they become receivable.
Where loans or similar assistance are provided by governments or related institutions with an interest
rate below the current applicable market rate, the effect of this favourable interest is regarded as
additional government grant.

2.15

Funds
Fund balances restricted by external sources are indicated and are distinguished from unrestricted
funds allocated to specific purposes, if any, by action of the Board. Externally restricted funds may
only be utilised in accordance with the purposes established by the source of such funds. The Board
retains full control to use the unrestricted funds in achieving any of its institutional purposes.
In the financial statements, four main groups of funds are distinguished: the Unrestricted Funds,
Other Restricted Funds, Schools’ Restricted Funds and the Building Maintenance Funds. Profit or
loss relating to specific activities are accounted for directly in the funds to which they relate.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.15

Funds (cont’d)
(a) Restricted Funds
The Other Restricted Funds were set up for the following specific projects or purposes:
Name of fund

Project/Purpose

Programmes Restricted
Funds

Income or expenditure relating to the running
of programmes supported by funding bodies
is accounted for in these Funds from 1 April
2009 onwards.

Central Relief Fund

For the provision of supplementary income in
the form of food rations and financial grants
to families, particularly those with intellectually
disabled children, who are living mainly at
subsistence level and are dependent on
assistance from welfare agencies.

Designated Donation Fund

Relates to various contributions/donations
received from different donors for specific
purposes.

Employment Development
Services (“EDS”) Empowerment Fund

This represents the corporate partnership with
Motorola Solutions Singapore Pte Ltd working
towards empowering our intellectually disabled
clients through providing employment and
raising funds to help needy clients’ families.

MINDS – SIA Community
Project Fund

This represents donations received from
Singapore Airlines for the welfare needs of
our clients and the purchase of equipment to
enhance Employment Development Centre
trainings.

MINDS Special Project Fund

To undertake the development of purpose –
built facilities and/or other approved projects.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.15

Funds (cont’d)
(a) Restricted Funds (cont’d)
Name of fund

Project/Purpose

MINDS Good-as-New Thrift
Shop Fund

The fund represents proceeds from a thrift shop
which is set up and managed by volunteer helpers
comprising expatriate wives selling second hand
goods at a shop within MINDS headquarters. The
objects of the fund are to enhance the quality of life
of persons with intellectual disabilities.

Care & Share

It is a dollar-to-dollar matching grant provided by
the Government to enhance the capabilities and
capacities of the social service sector and also
to meet its rising needs. Disbursement of grants
under Care & Share programme ceased on 31
March 2016.

Community Silver Trust

It is a dollar-to-dollar matching grant provided by
the Government to enhance the capabilities and
capacities of the intermediate and long term care
services in social service sector.

Social Enterprise Funds

Represent the profit or loss amount for its social
enterprise activities in MINDS.

(b) Schools’ Restricted Funds
The Schools’ Restricted Funds were set up for the following specific projects or purposes:
Name of fund

Project/Purpose

School Fund

This represents funds retained for the operations
of the Schools.

Curriculum Enhancement Fund

To promote and sustain school-based initiatives in
enhancing the quality of the Schools curricula and
co-curriculum.

Edusave Grant Fund

To conduct enrichment programmes and produce
additional equipment and resource materials to
enhance the quality of teaching and learning.

MOE Grant Training Fund

For staff training by the Schools.

Additional Training Vote

For registered Special
teacher training.

109

Education

(“SPED”)

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore
Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.15

Funds (cont’d)
(b) Schools’ Restricted Funds (cont’d)
Name of fund

Project/Purpose

High Needs Grant

To provide SPED school with additional resources to
support students with exceptionally high needs due
to challenging behaviour.

Annual Grant for Discretionary
Financial Assistance (“DFA”)

To subsidize needy students who do not meet the
criteria for MOE SPED FAS but are eligible for SPED
School’s own financial subsidy scheme.

Parent Support Group

To enhance partnership efforts with parents and
implement new initiatives to engage parents.

Opportunity fund

For the welfare of needy SPED students.

School pocket money fund

For the welfare of needy SPED students.

Trailblazer – Chan Chiew Ping
Special School fund

To provide financial assistance to SPED students
affected by the economic downturn. The fund can
be utilised to finance students’ cost of transport,
textbooks, uniforms, meals and medicine.

School-to-work (S2W) Prototype
Fund

To support a transition programme for work capable
SPED students who are unable to qualify for the
current vocational certificate programmes. This fund
is to support the hiring of manpower and purchase
of resources for vocational assessment.

Public Transport Subsidy

To provide a subsidy of $10 per month ($120 per
year) to each of SPED Financial Assistance Scheme
(“FAS”) students who declare taking public transport
to school, as long as they are enrolled in the school.

MOE-ICT Development Grant

The MOE ICT Development Fund consists of:
(a) ICT Manpower Grant; and
(b) ICT Equipment and Services Grant

Lee Kuan Yew Exemplary Student An award to recognise the achievements of students
Award
with special needs.

(c) Building Maintenance Fund
This represents funds designated to finance any cyclical maintenance, addition and alteration
and building maintenance works within MINDS.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.16

Contingencies
A contingent liability is:
(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of MINDS; or
(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
(i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation; or
(ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of MINDS.
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position of MINDS,
except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and
which the fair values can be reliably determined.

3.

Significant accounting estimates and judgments
In the application of MINDS’ accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the Board is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
The Board did not make any material estimates that have significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements.
Judgement made in accounting policies
In the process of applying accounting policies, MINDS has made the following judgements which have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Government operating grants
Government grants to meet operating expenses are recognised as income in the income and
expenditure statement on the accrual basis in the year these operating expenses were incurred and
there is reasonable assurance that the MINDS will comply with the conditions attached to it. For certain
grants, the government agencies reserve the right to withdraw, withhold or reduce the amount of any
funds approved but not yet disbursed or to call for the refund of all funds which have been disbursed
to the MINDS if the conditions are not met.
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4.

Related party disclosures
A related party includes trustees/office bearers and key management of MINDS. It includes an entity
or person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common or joint control with
these persons. It also includes members or close members of the family of any individual referred
to herein and others who have the ability to control, jointly control or significantly influence by or for
which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, by any such individual.
The trustees/office bearers, or people connected with them have not received remuneration or other
benefits except as disclosed below from MINDS for which they are responsible, or from institutions
connected with MINDS.
There is no claim by the trustees/office bearers for services provided to MINDS, either by reimbursement
to the trustees/office bearers or by providing the trustees/office bearers with an allowance by direct
payment to a third party.
All trustees/office bearers, and staff members of MINDS is required to read and understand the
conflict of interest policy and make full disclosure of their interests. When a conflict of interest situation
arises, the members or staff shall abstain from participating in the discussion, decision making and
voting on the matter.
During the financial year, the Board has participated in a conference held in Thailand and incurred
workshops and other expenses amounting to $8,581 (2017: $4,912).
Remuneration of key management staff
Included in staff costs are remuneration paid to key management staff as follows:

Salaries and related costs
Contribution to Central Provident Fund

2018

2017

$

$

2,150,087

1,741,445

164,167

125,345

2,314,254

1,866,790

The top executives are remunerated in bands of $150,001 to $300,000 per annum.
2018

2017

From $250,001 to $300,000

–

1

From $200,001 to $250,000

2

–

From $150,001 to $200,000

6

7

Remuneration comprises basic salaries, bonuses, annual wages supplement, annual variable
components and contributions to Central Provident Fund.
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5.

Income
Restricted Funds
2018

2017

$

$

Ministry of Education

18,708,688

17,092,563

National Council of Social Service

11,797,146

10,884,160

Ministry of Social and Family Development

14,808,476

13,635,493

SG Enable

1,633,115

1,444,240

TOTE Board

1,874,810

2,078,241

791,942

703,966

49,614,177

45,838,663

Programme Fees

973,694

816,828

School Fees

153,974

242,113

1,127,668

1,058,941

Grant income

Others

Programme income

6.

Employee benefits expenses

Salaries and related costs
Contribution to Central Provident Fund
Other short term benefits

2018

2017

$

$

32,558,017

29,419,916

4,661,269

4,166,383

990,092

719,830

38,209,378

34,306,129

Included in employee benefits expenses are salaries, allowances, bonuses, employer’s contribution
to Central Provident Fund, recruitment expenses, staff training and development costs, and other staff
related benefits.
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180,425
(130,594)

−

Written off
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30,160,885

32,011,586

At 31 March 2017

1,744,038

1,402,235

3,103,715

(41,337)

23,939,248

607,771

−

2,537,281

1,850,701

22,088,547

(39,652)

−

806,759
1,770,174

1,850,701

20,237,846

At 31 March 2018

Net carrying amount:

At 31 March 2018

Written off

Charge for the financial year

At 31 March 2017 and
1 April 2017

Written off

Charge for the financial year

At 1 April 2016

Accumulated depreciation:

4,505,950

(45,216)

−

Written off

54,100,133

269,847

−

Additions

At 31 March 2018

4,281,319

54,100,133

At 31 March 2017 and
1 April 2017

4,231,488

$

−

$

Buildings

54,100,133

At 1 April 2016

Furniture
and fittings

Addition

Cost:

Property, plant and equipment

273,737

490,692

2,106,646

(144,137)

193,452

2,057,331

(250,474)

397,184

1,910,621

2,597,338

(144,137)

410,407

2,331,068

(251,754)

306,687

2,276,135

$

Office
equipment

60,468

57,371

289,469

(15,023)

47,936

256,556

(10,670)

58,398

208,828

346,840

(15,023)

44,839

317,024

(10,670)

26,983

300,711

$

Kitchen
equipment

50,949

142,248

240,005

(3,431)

54,486

188,950

(4,442)

28,698

164,694

382,253

(3,431)

145,785

239,899

(4,442)

34,266

210,075

$

Outdoor
equipment

148,146

206,664

697,118

(48,154)

110,972

634,300

(49,920)

139,622

544,598

903,782

(48,154)

169,490

782,446

(49,920)

106,249

726,117

$

Audio−
visual
equipment

1,915

2,377

24,916

−

888

24,028

−

460

23,568

27,293

−

1,350

25,943

−

1,890

24,053

$

Musical
equipment

264,117

141,483

896,128

−

129,684

766,444

(83,500)

189,738

660,206

1,037,611

−

7,050

1,030,561

(83,500)

116,126

997,935

$

Motor
vehicles

34,554,956

32,603,955

31,297,245

(252,082)

2,995,890

28,553,437

(438,658)

4,434,975

24,557,120

63,901,200

(255,961)

1,048,768

63,108,393

(530,880)

772,626

62,866,647

$

Total
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7.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
Buildings with a net book value of $13,387,297 (2017:$14,119,764) were designated by MOE for use
as purpose-built special education schools.

8.

Held-to-maturity investments

2018
$

2017
$

Current
Bonds (quoted)

–

4,012,717

Bonds (quoted)

6,038,824

6,564,649

Total held-to-maturity investments

6,038,824

10,577,366

Balance at the beginning of the year

10,577,366

13,944,382

Redemption of held-to-maturity investments at par
value

(4,500,000)

(3,250,000)

(38,542)

(117,016)

Non-current

Movement in held-to-maturity
investments:

Amortisation of bond premium

6,038,824

10,577,366

The quoted bonds are stated at amortised cost and have fair values amounting to $6,000,000 (2017:
$10,500,000), with coupon rates ranging from 2.22% to 3.78% (2017: 2.22% to 4.25%) per annum and
maturity dates ranging from 2018 to 2022.
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9.

Trade and other receivables
2018

2017

$

$

Trade receivables
Contract work receivables

265,154

151,865

Grant receivables

2,603,649

2,863,119

Other receivables

835,927

890,610

Other receivables

Deposits
Total trade and other receivables
Add: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10)
Fixed deposits (including pledged deposits)
(Note 10)
Total loans and receivables

67,825

63,604

3,772,555

3,969,198

16,932,755

15,408,459

41,873,103

35,157,215

62,578,413

54,534,872

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days’ term. They are recognised
at their original invoice amounts which represents their fair values on initial recognition.
Other receivable are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Receivables that are past due but not impaired
MINDS has trade receivables amounting to $138,927 (2017: $31,832) that are past due but not
impaired at the end of the financial year. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their
ageing at the end of the financial year is as follows:
2018

2017

$

$

92,327

17,168

Trade receivables past due
Less than 30 days
30 to 60 days
More than 60 days
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4,288

2,952

42,312

11,712

138,927

31,832
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9.

Trade and other receivables (cont’d)
Receivables that are past due and impaired
The carrying amount of receivables individually determined to be past due and/or impaired and the
movement in the related impairment for doubtful debts are as follows:

Receivables - gross

2018

2017

$

$

3,892,668

3,969,198

–

–

Charge for the financial year

(120,113)

–

At 31 March

(120,113)

–

Receivables - net

3,772,555

3,969,198

Allowance for impairment of other receivables:
At 1 April

The impaired other receivables arise mainly from customers that are deemed to be uncollectible.
10.

Cash and cash equivalents
2018

2017

$

$

Cash on hand

13,852

14,127

Cash at banks

16,918,903

15,394,332

Fixed deposits

41,873,103

35,157,215

58,805,858

50,565,674

–

(7,370,445)

Less: Fixed deposits (non-current)
Fixed deposits (current)
Pledged deposits
Total cash and cash equivalents presented in
statement of cash flows
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(41,187,407)

(26,850,816)

(685,696)

(935,954)

16,932,755

15,408,459
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10.

Cash and cash equivalents (cont’d)
Cash at banks are held in interest bearing accounts at an average rate of 0.01% (2017: 0.05%) per
annum.
The fixed deposits will mature within 1 to 18 months (2017: 1 to 18 months) from the financial year
end and earn interest rates ranging from 0.35% to 1.755% (2017: 0.35% to 1.65%) per annum. Fixed
deposits with maturity date more than 3 months from 31 March are excluded from cash and cash
equivalents.
The pledged deposits of $685,696 (2017: $935,954) are pledged with a bank for issuance of letters
of guarantees to the Commissioner of Lands. Pledged deposits are excluded from cash and cash
equivalents on basis of its restrictive nature.

11.

Trade and other payables
2018

2017

$

$

Trade payables
Contract works payable

–

772

2,086,474

2,280,153

231,461

281,909

Other payables
Accrued operating expenses
Grant received in advance
Other payables
GST Payables
Total trade and other payables
Less: GST Payables
Add: Obligation under finance lease (Note 12)
Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

1,175,452

707,103

872,399

1,289,876

4,365,786

4,559,813

(872,399)

(1,289,876)

970

2,120

3,494,357

3,272,057

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 days’ term. These amounts
are to be settled in cash.
Other payables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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12.

Obligation under finance lease
2018

2017

Minimum
payment

Present
value of
payments

Minimum
payment

Present
value of
payments

$

$

$

$

Within one year

1,100

970

1,433

1,260

–

–

989

860

Total minimum lease

1,100

970

2,422

2,120

Amounts representing finance
charges

(130)

–

(302)

–

970

970

2,120

2,120

After one year but not more
than five years

Present value of minimum lease
payments

Finance lease relates to a hired purchase of a copier in 2014 over a period of 5 years. The discount
rate implicit in the lease is 5.64% (2017: 5.64%) per annum.
13.

Deferred capital grants
Restricted Funds

Balance at the beginning of the year

2018

2017

$

$

33,880,595

36,349,065

Received during the year

402,774

270,693

Written off during the year

(1,965)

(19,302)

Amortisation charged during the year

(2,537,537)

(2,719,861)

Balance at the end of year

31,743,867

33,880,595

119

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore
Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018
14.

Funds
Balance at
1 April 2017

Receipts

Expenses

Transfer*

Balance at 31
March 2018

$

$

$

$

$

2018
Unrestricted Funds

16,249,083

2,322,268

(1,511,926)

1,021,180

18,080,605

12,601,815

26,053,649

(24,332,342)

1,289,640

15,612,762

Restricted Funds
Programmes Funds

492,148

35,571

(53,318)

−

474,401

Designated Donation Fund

3,145,787

567,324

(80,366)

(59,383)

3,573,362

EDS Empowerment Fund

36,595

−

−

−

36,595

352,058

−

−

−

352,058

−

−

3,368,326

Central Relief Fund

MINDS – SIA Community
Project Fund

3,368,326

−

MINDS Good-as-New Thrift
Shop Fund

407,750

65,045

(6,084)

−

466,711

Care & Share Grant

260,755

83,465

(81,684)

(88,884)

173,652

3,568,405

−

(164,543)

(2,162,553)

1,241,309

−

48,277

−

−

48,277

Social Enterprise Funds

3,729,534

2,892,799

(3,381,176)

−

3,241,157

Other Restricted Funds

15,361,358

3,692,481

(3,767,171)

(2,310,820)

12,975,848

School Fund

15,990,870

23,033,632

(21,332,008)

−

17,692,494

165,672

39,328

(55,245)

−

149,755

MINDS Special Project Fund

Community Silver Trust Fund
AHP Funds

Curriculum Enhancement Fund
Edusave Grant Fund
MOE Grant Training Fund
Additional Training Vote
High Needs Grant
Annual Grant for DFA
Parent Support Group
Opportunity Fund
School Pocket Money Fund
Trailblazer – Chan Chiew Ping
Special School Fund
S2W Prototype Fund
Public Transport Subsidy
MOE-ICT Development Fund
LKY Fund

Schools’ Restricted Funds

34,586

83,973

(86,727)

−

31,832

184,916

112,084

(135,712)

−

161,288

49,014

14,587

(34,828)

−

28,773

−

980,373

(980,373)

−

−

42,941

39,499

(33,996)

−

48,444

5,545

4,455

(5,238)

−

4,762

55,505

(3,598)

(17,751)

−

34,156

6,319

9,126

(7,475)

−

7,970

6,448

−

(1,753)

−

4,695

33,530

(14,462)

(19,068)

−

−

792

4,008

(3,244)

−

1,556

44,830

309,410

(355,660)

−

(1,420)

−

2,400

(2,400)

−

−

16,620,968

24,614,815

(23,071,478)

−

18,164,305

726,597

14,975

(115,339)

−

626,233

Total Restricted Funds

45,310,738

54,375,920

(51,286,330)

(1,021,180)

47,379,148

Total Funds

61,559,821

56,698,188

(52,798,256)

−

65,459,753

Building Maintenance Fund

* Funds transfer in between programmes are approved by donors and funders.
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14.

Funds (cont’d)
Balance at
1 April 2016

Receipts

Expenses

Transfer*

Balance at 31
March 2017

$

$

$

$

$

2017
Unrestricted Funds

15,278,770

1,875,785

(1,388,471)

482,999

16,249,083

8,715,437

24,234,132

(21,134,247)

786,493

12,601,815

Restricted Funds
Programmes Funds

503,024

24,845

(35,721)

−

492,148

3,096,613

552,653

(113,359)

(390,120)

3,145,787

36,595

−

−

−

36,595

352,058

−

−

−

352,058

3,368,326

−

−

−

3,368,326

MINDS Good-as-New Thrift Shop
Fund

664,899

48,875

(306,024)

−

407,750

Care & Share Grant

653,268

−

(213,055)

(179,458)

260,755

4,822,739

−

(714,861)

(539,473)

3,568,405

Central Relief Fund
Designated Donation Fund
EDS Empowerment Fund
MINDS – SIA Community Project
Fund
MINDS Special Project Fund

Community Silver Trust Fund

107,611

52,830

−

(160,441)

−

Social Enterprise Funds

3,262,940

2,674,483

(2,207,889)

−

3,729,534

Other Restricted Funds

16,868,073

3,353,686

(3,590,909)

(1,269,492)

15,361,358

School Fund

15,017,272

21,064,846

(20,091,248)

−

15,990,870

−

29,543

(29,543)

−

−

168,422

36,578

(39,328)

−

165,672

25,527

98,095

(89,036)

−

34,586

179,264

100,136

(94,484)

−

184,916

50,324

16,388

(17,698)

−

49,014

−

719,739

(719,739)

−

−

46,102

34,524

(37,685)

−

42,941

AHP Funds

Designated Donations
Curriculum Enhancement Fund
Edusave Grant Fund
MOE Grant Training Fund
Additional Training Vote
High Needs Grant
Annual Grant for DFA
Parent Support Group

4,310

5,690

(4,455)

−

5,545

68,458

−

(12,953)

−

55,505

School Pocket Money Fund

7,319

7,000

(8,000)

−

6,319

Trailblazer – Chan Chiew Ping
Special School Fund

6,972

−

(524)

−

6,448

S2W Protype Fund

3,925

200,000

(170,395)

−

33,530

Public Transport Subsidy

1,140

2,340

(2,688)

−

792

−

391,867

(347,037)

−

44,830

15,579,035

22,706,746

(21,664,813)

−

16,620,968

Opportunity Fund

MOE-ICT Development Fund

Schools’ Restricted Funds

1,016,914

17,064

(307,381)

−

726,597

Total Restricted Funds

42,179,459

50,311,628

(46,697,350)

(482,999)

45,310,738

Total Funds

57,458,229

52,187,413

(48,085,821)

−

61,559,821

Building Maintenance Fund
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14.

Funds (cont’d)
The assets and liabilities of the other restricted funds, Schools’ restricted funds and Building
maintenance fund are represented by:
2018

2017

$

$

Programmes & Other restricted funds
represented by:
- Property, plant and equipment

32,106,818

34,043,494

- Fixed deposits

22,819,165

19,810,284

- Cash at banks

5,620,997

7,399,203

- Trade and other receivables
- Trade and other payables

2,975,411

3,352,391

(34,933,781)

(36,642,199)

28,588,610

27,963,173

Schools’ restricted funds represented by:
- Property, plant and equipment

497,137

511,462

- Bonds

4,536,607

7,073,059

- Fixed deposits

1,849,319

1,875,555

- Cash at banks

11,311,758

8,009,258

1,146,326

556,082

(1,176,842)

(1,404,448)

18,164,305

16,620,968

626,233

726,597

- Trade and other receivables
- Trade and other payables

Building maintenance fund represented by:
- Fixed deposits

122

Movement for the Intellectually Disabled of Singapore
Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018
15.

Operating lease commitments
MINDS has entered into operating leases on the premises and photocopier machines. These leases
have an average tenure of 3 to 5 years with no contingent rent provision included in the contracts. The
leases include a renewal clause for extending the lease period for a further 3 years at a rental rate to
be agreed between the parties.
Rental expenses for premises and operating leased photocopiers which are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income amounted to $3,134,613 and $46,379 (2017: $3,079,929 and
$36,193) respectively.
(i)

(ii)

16.

Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases for premises
as of 31 March are as follows:
2018

2017

$

$

Within one financial year

3,091,795

1,975,779

Between two to five financial years

3,509,194

2,330,491

6,600,989

4,306,270

Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases for photocopier
machines as of 31 March are as follows:
2018

2017

$

$

Within one financial year

36,015

37,711

Between two to five financial years

49,630

48,355

85,645

86,066

Income tax
MINDS has been granted tax exempt status as a charitable institution under the provisions of the
Singapore Income Tax Act. No provision for income tax has been made in the financial statements.

17.

Tax deductible receipts
During the financial year, MINDS has issued tax deductible receipts for donations collected amounting
to $1,353,348 (2017: $810,277).
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18.

Financial risk management policies and objectives
MINDS is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The
key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and market price risk. The Board
reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks. The Board also provide
independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process. It is, and has been throughout
the current and previous financial year, MINDS’ policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative
purposes shall be undertaken. MINDS does not apply hedge accounting.
The following sections provide details regarding MINDS’ exposure to the above-mentioned financial risks
and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.
There has been no change to the MINDS’ exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty
default on its obligations. MINDS’ exposure to credit risk arises primarily from its trade and other
receivables. For other financial assets (including held-to-maturity investments, cash and fixed
deposits), MINDS minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables, cash and deposits and held-to-maturity
investments represents MINDS’ maximum exposure to credit risk. No other financial asset carries a
significant exposure to credit risk.
Credit risk concentration profile
At the end of the reporting period, approximately 57% (2017: 51%) of MINDS trade receivables were
due from 1 major customer which is government linked.
Cash and cash equivalents are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions with
high credit ratings and no history of default.
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are receivables from government
subvention and deposits. Cash and fixed deposits and held-to-maturity investments that are neither
past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions with high
credit ratings and no history of default.
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information on financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 9 to the
financial statements.
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18.

Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that MINDS will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due
to shortage of funds. MINDS’ exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. MINDS’ objective is to maintain a level of funds deemed
adequate by management to finance MINDS’ operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The Board exercises prudent liquidity and cash flow risk management policies and aims
at maintaining a high level of liquidity and cash flow at all times.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of MINDS’ financial assets and liabilities at the
statement of financial position date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
$

$

$

2018
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables (Note 9)

3,772,555

–

3,772,555

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10)

16,932,755

–

16,932,755

Fixed deposits (Note 10)

41,187,407

–

41,187,407

685,696

–

685,696

62,578,413

–

62,578,413

(4,365,786)

–

(4,365,786)

(970)

–

(970)

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

(4,366,756)

–

(4,366,756)

Total net undiscounted financial assets

58,211,657

–

58,211,657

Pledged deposits (Note 10)
Total undiscounted financial assets
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables (Note 11)
Obligation under finance lease
(Note 12)
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18.

Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
(b) Liquidity risk
$

$

$

2017
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables (Note 9)

3,969,198

–

3,969,198

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10)

15,408,459

–

15,408,459

Fixed deposits (Note 10)

34,221,261

–

34,221,261

935,954

–

935,954

54,534,872

–

54,534,872

(4,559,813)

–

(4,559,813)

(1,433)

(989)

(2,422)

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

(4,561,246)

(989)

(4,562,235)

Total net undiscounted financial assets

49,973,626

(989)

49,972,637

Pledged deposits (Note 10)
Total undiscounted financial assets
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables (Note 11)
Obligation under finance lease
(Note 12)

Interest rate risk
(c) MINDS’ income and operating cash flows are, to a substantial extent, affected by changes in
market interest rates as it has significant interest bearing fixed deposits (Note 10). MINDS does
not have any significant interest bearing liabilities.
MINDS’ fixed deposits earn interest rates ranging from 0.35% to 1.755% (2017: 0.35% to 1.65%)
per annum.
The fixed deposits are exposed to market interest rate risk. MINDS has a policy which governs
the investment of surplus funds including the placement of fixed deposits. Internal guidelines
have been set on the minimum investment credit ratings of the financial institutions where the
funds are placed.
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
At the end of the reporting period, if the interest rate risk had been 100 basis points lower/
higher with all other variables held constant, the MINDS’ net income would have been $409,452
(2017: $340,576) lower/higher arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest income on fixed
deposits.
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18.

Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
(d) Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the MINDS’ financial assets
under fund management will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest
or exchange rates). MINDS is exposed to price risk arising from its investment in quoted debt
instruments. These instruments are quoted on reputable exchanges and are classified as held to
maturity investments.
MINDS manages investment returns and price risk by investing in investment grade debt
instruments with low risk of default and steady dividend yield. At the balance sheet date, all of
MINDS’ portfolio consists of investment grade debt instrument issued by reputable companies
and governments.
Sensitivity analysis for price risk
At the balance sheet date, if the fair value of the quoted debt instruments had been 2% (2017:
2%) lower with all other variables held constant, MINDS’ surplus for the year would have been
approximately $120,776 (2017: $211,547) lower, arising as a result of impairment on the held to
maturity investments.

19.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities reported in the statement of financial position
approximates the carrying amount of those assets and liabilities, as these are short term in nature
except for held-to-maturity investments.
(a) Fair value hierarchy
MINDS categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the
valuation inputs used as follows:
- Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities that MINDS
can access at the measurement date,
- Level 2 – Inputs other than the quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and
- Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety
in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.
Held-to-maturity investments
Held to maturity investments are categorized within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
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20.

Management of reserves
MINDS regards its unrestricted general fund and programmes restricted funds as its reserves. MINDS’
reserve policy requires it to maintain sufficient reserve to ensure long term financial sustainability and
continuity for the purpose of operating effective programmes and in providing quality services wholly
for the benefit of persons with intellectual disabilities.
MINDS aims to achieve about 2 years of its annual total operating expenses as reserves to ensure
that its operational activities could continue in time of unforeseen difficulty.
MINDS is not subject to externally imposed reserve requirement.

21.

Authorisation of financial statements
The statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 were authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the Board on 30 July 2018.
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